Regulation of glucose metabolism by TNF- α signalling and MIG1 gene switching

IRAJ ALIPOURFARD

A dissertation submitted to the graduate division of the Faculty of Natural Sciences and Medicine of Ilia State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Life Sciences

Doctoral Program in LIFE SCIENCES

Supervisor: Assoc. Prof. Nelly Datukishvili

Co-Supervisor: Prof. Salar Bakhtyari

Ilia State University

Tbilisi, 2020

Statement

As an author of the dissertation presented, I state that the dissertation represents my original work and does not include material already published, submitted for publication or presented as a PhD thesis by other authors, unless mentioned or cited in accordance with proper rules.

Iraj Alipourfard 22:11:2019

Abstract

In this study, two important aspects of glucose metabolism were investigated, such as (1) effect of TNF- α elimination on insulin signaling and metabolic processes; (2) role of MIG1 gene in metabolic switching of fermentation /oxidation. The activation of the insulin signaling pathway regulates glucose and lipid metabolism, protein synthesis, gene expression, cell survival and differentiation. It seems that saturated fatty acids, especially palmitate inhibit insulin signaling pathway through increased expression of inflammatory cytokine TNF- α . So, the inhibition of TNF- α activity could be a potential therapeutic target in insulin resistance induced by fatty acids. On the other side, documented evidences from animal models with knockdowned TNF- α gene under high-fat diet, exhibited an increase in insulin sensitivity and lower blood glucose. Thus, down-regulation of TNF- α causes interfering with fatty acid signaling pathway and can eliminate the negative impact of fatty acids on the insulin signaling pathway. However the mechanism of decreasing of fatty acid induced insulin resistance by TNF- α down-regulation is still unknown. This study was conducted in order to answer this question. Initially TNF- α expression was reduced through shRNA technique in liver cells, HepG2 cell line, under in vivo condition. The shRNA was introduced into cells through transfection. Furthermore, the both modified HepG2 and normal control cells were treated with suitable concentrations of palmitate. The rate of insulin resistance in cells was measured through either western blot technique or radioactive glucose uptake test. To evaluate the intra cellular insulin signalling pathway under palmitate and insulin treatment conditions, two signalling proteins (IRS-1 and Aks) are capable candidates. We determined the phosphorylation of proteins IRS and Aks in TNF- α knockdown and control hepatic (HepG2) cells under the presence and absence of palmitate. According to our data, palmitate can deregulate the insulin signaling pathway and causes diabetic insulin resistance by increased expression of TNF- α in hepatocytes. These data support the evidence that TNF- α downregulation contributes to the improvement of insulin

sensitivity in hepatic cells, even in the presence of palmitate. Taking these findings together, the inhibition of TNF- α signaling has a potential possibility for treatment target. The results obtained may be used in management of metabolic and cardiovascular diseases, lipid-induced insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes.

Another issue of our study was investigation of the role of MIG1 gene in metabolic switching of fermentation/oxidation. The glucose repression effect can direct metabolism of yeast to preferably anaerobic conditions. This leads to higher ethanol production and less efficient production of recombinant products. The general glucose repression system is constituted by MIG1, TUP1 and SSN6 factors. The role of MIG1 is known in glucose repression but the evaluation of effects on aerobic/anaerobic metabolism by deletion of MIG1 and constructing an optimal strain brand remains unclear and an objective to be explored. To find the impact of MIG1 in induction of glucose-repression, the Mig1 disruptant strain (ΔMIG1) of yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* was produced for comparing with its congenic wild-type strain (2805). The analysis approached for changes in the rate of glucose consumption, biomass yield, cell protein contents, ethanol and intermediate metabolites production. This study showed the amount of ethanol measured by HPLC method in mutant and wild strain cultivations which determined less production of $\Delta MIGI$. Enhancement of biomass production in $\Delta MIG1$ strains can lead to higher amount of intracellular protein content and carbohydrates. In the current research, results of strain $\Delta MIG1$ 2805 could confirm similar achievements rather than wild types. As to peripheral functions, efforts have already been exerted in production of partially derepressed galactose, maltose and sucrose metabolisms. For central functions, industrial interest could promote attempts in the metabolic engineering of strains that exhibit higher specific growth rates for baker's yeast or recombinant protein production, or of distiller's yeast strains that give higher ethanol yields. Results suggest that Δ MIG1 compared to the wild-type strain can significantly present less effects of glucose repression. The constructed strain has more efficient growth in aerobic

cultivations and it can be a potential host for biotechnological recombinant yields and industrial interests.

Key words: Hepatic Cell, Insulin Signaling Pathway, TNF- α downregulation, shRNA transfection, Western Blot Analysis, Mig1 gene, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, Glucose Repression, PCR analysis, DNA cloning.

აბსტრაქტი

შესწავლილია გლუკოზის წარმოდგენილ ნაშრომში მეტაბოლიზმის ორი მნიშვნელოვანი ასპექტი, როგორიცაა (1) TNF-α-ს ელიმინაციის ეფექტი ინსულინის სასიგნალო სისტემაზე და მეტაბოლურ პროცესებზე; (2) MIG1 გენის როლი გზის ფერმენტაცია/ჟანგვის მეტაბოლურ შეცვლაში. ინსულინის სასიგნალო გააქტიურება არეგულირებს გლუკოზისა და ლიპიდების მეტაბოლიზმს, ცილების სინთეზს, გენების ექსპრესიას, უჯრედების გადარჩენას და დიფერენციაციას. როგორც ჩანს, გაჯერებული ცხიმოვანი მჟავები, განსაკუთრებით კი პალმიტატი, ახდენს ინსულინის სასიგნალო გზის ინჰიბირებას ანთებითი ციტოკინი TNF-α-ს გაძლიერებული ექსპრესიით. ამრიგად, TNF-α- ას აქტივობის ინჰიბირება შეიძლება იყოს პოტენციური თერაპიული სამიზნე ცხიმმჟავებით გამოწვეულ ინსულინრეზისტენტობისთვის. მეორეს მხრივ, გათიშული TNF-a გენის მქონე ცხოველურ მოდელებზე მიღებული მონაცემებით, ცხიმიანი დიეტის დროს, გამოვლინდა ინსულინის მიმართ მგრძნობელობის ზრდა და სისხლში გლუკოზის დაწევა. ამრიგად, TNF-α- ის დაღმავალი რეგულაცია აბრკოლებს ცხიმოვანი მჟავების სასიგნალო გზას და შეუძლია აღმოფხვრას ცხიმოვანი მჟავების უარყოფითი გავლენა ინსულინის სასიგნალო სისტემაზე. ამასთან, ჯერ კიდევ უცნობია ცხიმოვანი მჟავებით გამოწვეული ინსულინ-რეზისტენტობის შემცირების მექანიზმი TNF-α- ის დაღმავალი რეგულაციის დროს. წარმოდგენილი კვლევა ჩატარდა ამ კითხვაზე პასუხის გასაცემად. თავდაპირველად, TNF-α-ს ექსპრესია შემცირდა მოკლე რნმ-ების (shRNA) ტექნიკით ღვიძლის უჯრედებში, HepG2 უჯრედულ ხაზში, in vivo პირობებში. shRNA შეიტანეს უჯრედებში ტრანსფექციის გზით. შემდგომ, მოდიფიცირებული HepG2 და ნორმალური საკონტროლო უჯრედები დამუშავდა ინსულინის შესაბამისი კონცენტრაციების პალმიტატით. უჯრედებში რეზისტენტობის დონე განსაზღვრულ იქნა ვესტერნ-ბლოთინგის ტექნიკით ან რადიოაქტიური გლუკოზის შემცველი ტესტით. პალმიტატითა და ინსულინით

V

დამუშავების პირობებში ინტრა უჯრედული ინსულინის სასიგნალო სისტემის შესაფასებლად კარგი კანდიდატებია ორი სასიგნალო ცილა (IRS-1 და Aks). ჩვენ განვსაზღვრეთ IRS და Aks ცილების ფოსფორილირება TNF-α-ს გათიშული გენით მოდიფიცირებულ და საკონტროლო ღვიძლის (HepG2) უჯრედებში, პალმიტატის არსებობის და არარსებობის პირობებში. ჩვენი მონაცემებით, პალმიტატს შეუძლია დაარღვიოს ინსულინის სასიგნალო სისტემის რეგულაცია და გამოიწვიოს დიაბეტური ინსულინ-რეზისტენტობა ჰეპატოციტებში TNF-α- ს გაზრდილი ექსპრესიით. ეს მონაცემები ადასტურებს, რომ TNF-α-ს დაღმავალი რეგულაცია ხელს უწყობს ღვიძლის უჯრედებში ინსულინის მიმართ მგრძნობელობის გაუმჯობესებას, თუნდაც პალმიტატის თანაობისას. ეს აღმოჩენები მიუთითებს, რომ TNF- α -ს სასიგნალო სისტემის ინჰიბირებით პოტენციურად შესაძლებელია სამიზნის მკურნალობა. მიღებული შედეგები შეიძლება გამოყენებული იქნეს პრაქტიკაში დაავადებების მართვისას, როგორიცაა სხვადასხვა მეტაბოლური და ინსულინგულსისხლძარღვთა დაავადებები, ლიპიდებით გამოწვეული რეზისტენტობა და მე-2 ტიპის დიაბეტი.

ჩვენი კვლევის შემდეგი საკითხი შეეხება MIG1 გენის როლის გამოკვლევას ფერმენტაცია/ჟანგვის მეტაბოლიზ შეცვლაში. გლუკოზის რეპრესიის ეფექტს შეუძლია საფუარის მეტაბოლიზმი წარმართოს უპირატესად ანაერობულ პირობებში. ეს იწვევს ეთანოლის წარმოების გაზრდას და რეკომბინანტული პროდუქტების ნაკლებად ეფექტურ წარმოებას. ზოგადად, გლუკოზის რეპრესიის სისტემა შედგება MIG1, TUP1 და SSN6 ფაქტორებისგან. გლუკოზის რეპრესიაში MIG1– ის როლი ცნობილია, მაგრამ ჯერჯერობით გაურკვეველია და შესასწავლია MIG1– ის დელეციისა და კონსტრუირებული შტამების გავლენა აერობულ / ანაერობულ მეტაბოლიზმზე. იმისათვის, რომ გაგვერკვია MIG1– ის გავლენა გლუკოზის რეპრესიის ინდუქციაში, შეიქმნა საფუარის Saccharomyces cerevisiae შტამი (ΔMIG1), რომელსაც ჰქონდა დაზიანებული MIG1–ის გენი. მისი შედარება მოხდა მონათესავე ველური ტიპის შტამთან (2805). ჩატარებული ანალიზით შემოწმდა ცვლილებები

VI

გლუკოზის მოხმარების სიჩქარეში, ბიომასის წარმოებაში, უჯრედების ცილის შემცველობაში, ეთანოლისა და შუალედური მეტაბოლიტების წარმოებაში. კვლევის დროს გაიზომა ეთანოლის ოდენობა HPLC მეთოდით მუტანტურ და ველური შტამის კულტურებში, დადგინდა ΔMIG1– ის მიერ ეთანოლის ნაკლები წარმოება. ΔMIG1 შტამებში ბიომასის წარმოების გაძლიერებამ შეიძლება გამოიწვიოს უჯრედშიდა ცილის შემცველობისა და ნახშირწყლები რაოდენობის გაზრდა. ჩვენს კვლევაში, Δ MIG1 2805-ის შტამის შედეგებმა უფრო მეტად დაადასტურა მსგავსი მონაცემები, ვიდრე ველური ტიპის შტამების შედეგებმა. რაც შეეხება პერიფერულ ფუნქციებს, განხორციელდა ძალისხმევა გალაქტოზას, მალტოზისა და საქაროზის *"*]330 ნაწილობრივ დაქვეითებული მეტაბოლიზმის მისაღებად. ცენტრალურ ფუნქციებთან მიმართებაში, ინდუსტრიულმა ინტერესმა შეიძლება ხელი შეუწყოს მეტაბოლურ ინჟინერიას ისეთი შტამებისთვის, რომლებსაც ექნებათ სპეციფიკური უფრო მაღალი ზრდის ტემპი მცხობელის საფუარის ან რეკომბინატული ცილების წარმოებისთვის, ან ლუდის საფუარის შტამების მიმართ, რომლითაც შესაძლებელია ეთანოლის გაზრდილი წარმოება. შედეგების საფუძველზე ივარაუდება, რომ ველური ტიპის შტამთან შედარებით $\Delta \mathrm{MIG1}$ შტამი მნიშვნელოვნად ნაკლებ ეფექტს ახდენს გლუკოზის რეპრესიაზე. კონსტრუირებული შტამი ეფექტურად იზრდება აერობული კულტივირებისას და ის შეიძლება იყოს პოტენციური მასპინძელი რეკომბინანტული ბიოტექნოლოგიური წარმოებისას სამრეწველო და ინტერესებისთვის.

საკვანმო სიტყვა: ღვიძლის უჯრედი, ინსულინის სასიგნალო სისტემა, TNF-α-ს დაღმავალი რეგულაცია, მ-რნმ-ით ტრანსფექცია, ვესტერნ-ბლოთინგი, Mig1 გენი, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, გლუკოზის რეპრესია, პჯრ-ანალიზი, დნმ-ის კლონირება

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis work was carried out as Integrative research in the Institute of Chemical Biology, Ilia State University and Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Ilam Medical Sciences University. During this time I have met a number of people who have supported and inspired me. I wish to express my sincere appreciation to all those who have helped me in different ways to complete my work. My gratitude goes to:

My primary supervisors, **Professor Salar Bakhtyari** and **Professor Nelly Datukishvili**, for giving me the opportunity to work with the group, for never-ending enthusiasm and encouragement, for all your hard work and for making me grow,

My great advisor, **Professor David Mikeladze**, for being supportive, positive and especially for always believing in me

All former and present friends and colleagues at Ilia State University and Ilam medical sciences university for whole working hours in the departments, for inspiration, new thoughts and ideas, cultural exchange, and existing times together. I especially would like to thank:

Tamar Barbakadze for appreciable cooperation, Helen Zhuravliova, Nino Natsvlishvili, Lali Shanshiashvili, Nana Narmania, Maia Sepashvili, Nino Sharikadze.

And last but definitely not least, my father and brother who existed in the beginning of research but they left me consequently and observing from heaven the end of journey.

CONTENTS

List of figures	XII
List of tables	XIII
Abbreviations	XIV
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1.Definition	1
1.2.History	1
1.3.Pathophysiology	2
1.4.Diagnosis	3
1.5. Types of DiabetesMellitus	4
1.5.1. Diabetis typeI	4
1.5.2. Diabetis type II	5
1.6. Prevalence	6
1.7. Glucose Metabolism; Integration of the Whole Body	
1.8. Insulin Signaling in Glucose Transport	12
1.9. Critical Nodes in the Insulin Signaling Cascade	15
1.10. Hepatic Glucose Production	18
1.11. Insulin Resistance	19
1.11.1. Molecular mechanism of insulin resistance	20
1.11.2. Mitochondrial dysfunction in insulin resistance	23
1.12. Defects in Insulin Signaling	
1.13. Downstream Signaling of TNF-α	
1.13.1. TNF- α mediated effects on IRS phosphorylation	
1.13.2. TNF- α , insulin resistancy and dibetes type II	
1.14. RNA Interference	29
1.14.1. Mechanism of RNA interference	

1.15. Key role of MIG1 gene in metabolic switching	
1.15.1. MIG1 gene, glucose repression and metabolic processes	32
2. MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY	34
2.1. Cell Culture	34
2.2. HepG2 Cell Culture	35
2.3. Matreials and equipments required for cell culture	35
2.3.1 The preparation of FCS	
2.3.2. The preparation of buffer PBS 1X	
2.3.3 The Preparation of Trypsyn- solution EDTA	
2.3.4. The preparation of cell culture medium	37
2.4. Preparation of HepG2 CELL CULTURE	37
2.4.1. Preparation of HepG2 cells	
2.4.2. Trypsynation of The Cells	38
2.5. Decreased expression of genes through siRNA	
2.6. Temporary plasmid DNA transfection into Hep-G2 cell line by using ca	ılcium phosphate
method	
2.6.1. Required solutions	40
2.6.2. Method	41
2.7. Western Blot	41
2.7.1. Required solutions	42
2.7.2. Protein extraction	43
2.7.3. SDS-PAGE electrophoresis	
2.7.4. Transfer of proteins from gel to PVDF sheets	44
2.7.5. Blotting stage	45
2.8. Treatment with palmitate	46
2.9. Compare the key elements of insulin signaling pathway in normal cell	s with decreased
TNF-α expression	

2.10. Glucose uptake test	47
2.11. Statistical Analysis	48
2.12. Upstream and downstream fragments of MIG1 gene cloning MIG1 disrug	ption and
recombinant screening	49
3. RESULTS	50
3.1. Effect of TNF-a down-regulation on insulin signaling and metabolic syndrome	processes
of hepatic cell lines	50
3.1.1. Cell Cultures	51
3.1.2. Transfection with Calcium Phosphate Method	51
3.1.3. Temporary Transfection	52
3.1.4. Increase of insulin signaling pathway in cells with reduced TNF- α expressio	n affected
by palmitate	54
3.2. Key role of MIG1 gene of <i>Saccharomyces cerevisiae</i> in metabolic switching of	
fermentation /oxidation	
3.2.1. Construction of disrupted mutant yeast	58
3.2.2. Metabolic assessment after MIG1 disruption	59
3.2.3. Glucose consumption, ethanol production, cell protein content and growth ra	te59
3.2.4. Glycerol, pyruvate and acetate formation	61
4. DISCUSSION	62
4.1. TNF- α Downregulation Modifies Insulin Receptor Substrate 1 (IRS-1)	62
4.2. MIG1 gene has a role in metabolic switching of fermentation/oxidation	65
5. CONCLUSION	68
REFERENCES	69

List of figures

Figure 1. Estimation of diabetes prevalence in the adult population worldwide
Figure 2. Crosstalk between different tissues in the regulation of glucose metabolism10
Figure 3. The insulin signaling cascade in skeletal muscle13
Figure 4. Critical nodes in the insulin signaling cascade16
Figure 5. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance21
Figure 6. TNF-α signaling27
Figure 7. Inflammatory mechanism of obesity and insulin resistancy in diabetes29
Fig. 8. Mechanism for siRNA transfection and mRNA degradation31
Figure 9. Cell culture in complete DMEM medium51
Figure 10. HepG2 cells transfection with GFP plasmids using calcium phosphate method52
Figure 11. Reduction of TNF- α expression in HepG2 cells following transfection53
Figure 12. Effect of palmitate on amount of Tyr 632 phosphorylation of IRS-1 molecule in HepG2 cells TNF- α down-regulated expression and normal ones

Figure 15. Concentration of A) glucose, B) cell mass, C) ethanol, and D) cell protein in batch cultivations of wild strains 2805 and Δ MIG1 (MIG1 disrupted mutant)60

List of tables

Table 1. Diagnostic criteria for type 2 diabetes (T2D) and impaired glucose tolerance (IGT)	
according to WHO)

Abbreviations

body mass index (BMI) double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK) fasting plasma glucose (FPG) family of transcription factors (FOXO) factor- $\kappa\beta$ (I $\kappa\beta$). fetal bovine serum (FBS glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) glucose 6-phosphatase (G-6-Pase) green fluorescent protein (GFP) insulin receptor (IR), interleukin-6 (IL-6) initiating factor (IF) inhibitor of nuclear factor- $\kappa\beta$ kinase (IKK) Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) MAP kinase kinases (MAPKKs) microRNAs (miRNAs) nuclear factor- $\kappa\beta$ (NF- $\kappa\beta$) oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-y co-activator (PGC)- 1α phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) phosphorylate phosphatidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate (PIP2)

phosphoinositide-dependent kinase (PDK). protein kinase C (PKC), protein kinase C (PKC), RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) short interfering RNA (siRNA) small interfering RNA (siRNA) Son of sevenless (SOS) Src-homology-2 (SH2) suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3) TNF receptor-associated death domain (TRADD). TNF receptor-associated factor 2 (TRAF2) tumor necrosis factor-α (TNF-α)

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. DEFINITION

Diabetes mellitus, or simply diabetes, is a group of diseases characterized by high blood glucose levels that result from defects in the body's ability to produce and/or use insulin. It is a condition primarily defined by the level of hyperglycaemia giving rise to risk of microvascular damage (retinopathy, nephropathy and neuropathy). It is associated with reduced life expectancy, significant morbidity due to specific diabetes related microvascular complications, increased risk of macrovascular complications (ischaemic heart disease, stroke and peripheral vascular disease), and diminished quality of life (<u>www.who.int/diabetes</u>).

Several pathogenetic processes are involved in the development of diabetes. These include processes, which destroy the beta cells of the pancreas with consequent insulin deficiency, and others that result in resistance to insulin action. The abnormalities of carbohydrate, fat and protein metabolism are due to deficient action of insulin on target tissues resulting from insensitivity or lack of insulin (Report of a WHO Consultation, 1999). Diabetes mellitus may present with characteristic symptoms such as thirst, polyuria, blurring of vision, and weight loss. Often symptoms are not severe, or may be absent.

1.2. HISTORY

For 2,000 years diabetes has been recognized as a devastating and deadly disease. In the first century A.D. a Greek physician, Aretaeus, described the destructive nature of the affliction, which he named "diabetes" from the Greek word for "siphon" (www.diabeteshealth.com). Physicians in ancient times, like Aretaeus, recognized the symptoms of diabetes but were

powerless to treat it effectively. In the 17thcentury a London physician, Dr. Thomas Willis, determined whether his patients had diabetes or not by sampling their urine. If it had a sweet taste he would diagnose them with diabetes mellitus-"honeyed" diabetes. This method of monitoring blood sugars went largely unchanged until the 20th century.

Before the discovery of the insulin little could be done for patients suffering from diabetes. Low calorie diets prolonged their lives but left them weak and near starvation. But in 1921, doctors in Canada treated patients dying of diabetes with insulin and managed to drop high blood sugars to normal levels. Since then, medical breakthroughs have continued to prolong and ease the life of people with diabetes.

In the '50s, it was discovered that there were two types of diabetes: "insulin sensitive" (type I) and "insulin insensitive" (type II). Two thousand years have passed since Aretaeus spoke of diabetes as "the mysterious sickness". It has been a long and arduous process of discovery, as generations of physicians and scientists have added their collective knowledge to finding a cure. It was from this wealth of knowledge that the discovery of insulin emerged in a small laboratory in Canada. Since then, medical innovations have continued to make life easier for people with diabetes. In the 21st century, diabetes researchers continue to pave the road toward a cure. Today, it is unclear what shape the road will take; perhaps another dramatic discovery like insulin waits around the corner, or possibly researchers will have to be content with the slow grind of progress (Satley, 2008).

1.3. PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

An understanding of the pathophysiology of diabetes rests upon knowledge of the basics of carbohydrate metabolism and insulin action. Following the consumption of food, carbohydrates are broken down into glucose molecules in the gut. Glucose is absorbed into the bloodstream elevating blood glucose levels. This rise in glycemia stimulates the secretion of insulin from the beta cells of the pancreas. Insulin is needed by most cells to allow glucose entry. Insulin binds to specific cellular receptors and facilitates entry of glucose into the cell, which uses the glucose for energy. The increased insulin secretion from the pancreas and the subsequent cellular utilization of glucose results in lowering of blood glucose levels. Lower glucose levels then result in decreased insulin secretion.

If insulin production and secretion are altered by disease, blood glucose dynamics will also change. If insulin production is decreased, glucose entry into cells will be inhibited, resulting in hyperglycaemia. The same effect will be seen if insulin is secreted from the pancreas but is not used properly by target cells. If insulin secretion is increased, blood glucose levels may become very low (hypoglycemia) as large amounts of glucose enter tissue cells and little remains in the bloodstream. Multiple hormones may affect glycemia. Insulin is the only hormone that lowers blood glucose levels. The counter-regulatory hormones such as glucagon, catecholamines, growth hormone, thyroid hormone, and glucocorticoids all act to increase blood glucose levels, in addition to their other effects (Meley et al, 2006).

1.4. DIAGNOSIS

The diagnosis of diabetes mellitus is easily established when a patient presents the classic symptoms of hyperglycaemia and has a random blood glucose value of 200 mg/dL (11.1 mmol/L) or higher, and confirmed on another occasion. The following tests are used for the basic diagnosis:

A fasting plasma glucose (FPG) test measures blood glucose in a person who has not eaten anything for at least 8 hours. This test is used to detect diabetes and prediabetes. An oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) measures blood glucose after a person fasts at least 8 hours and 2 hours after the person drinks a glucose-containing beverage. This test can be used to diagnose diabetes and prediabetes. The FPG test is the preferred test for diagnosing diabetes because of its convenience and low cost. However, it may miss some diabetes or prediabetes that can be found with the OGTT. The FPG test is most reliable when done in the morning. Research has shown that the OGTT is more sensitive than the FPG test for diagnosing prediabetes, but it is less convenient to administer. A random plasma glucose test, also called a casual plasma glucose test, measures blood glucose without regard to when the person being tested last ate. This test, along with an assessment of symptoms, is used to diagnose diabetes but not prediabetes. Test results indicating that a person has diabetes should be confirmed with a second test on a different day (Twillman, 2002). The current WHO diagnostic criteria for diabetes should be maintained – fasting plasma glucose \geq 7.0mmol/l (126mg/dl) or 2–h plasma glucose \geq 11.1mmol/l (200mg/dl).

1.5. TYPES OF DIABETES MELLITUS

The first widely accepted classification was published by the WHO in 1980 (Second Report, 1980). Two major classes of diabetes mellitus were proposed: IDDM (Type I) and NIDDM (Type II). Other types as well as gestational diabetes were also included. The modified form of 1985 (Diabetes Mellitus: Report of a WHO Study Group, 1985) was widely accepted and is used internationally. It was recommended that the terms "insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus" and "non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus" should no longer be used, because patients were classified according to treatment rather than pathogenesis. The terms Type I and Type II were introduced to describe the cases which are primarily due to pancreatic islet beta-cell destruction the former and the common major form of diabetes resulting from defects in insulin secretion the latter (Goodpaster, 2010).

1.5.1. DIABETES TYPE I

Type I accounts for only about 5—10% of all cases of diabetes; however, its incidence continues to increase worldwide and it has serious short-term and long-term implications. Type I indicates the process of beta-cell destruction in the pancreas that may ultimately lead to diabetes mellitus in which "insulin is required for survival" to prevent the development of ketoacidosis, coma and death (Definition, Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus and its Complications. Report of a WHO Consultation, 1999). Management of Type I diabetes is best undertaken in the context of a multidisciplinary health team and requires continuing attention to many aspects, including insulin administration, blood glucose monitoring, meal planning, and screening for diabetes-related complications. These complications consist of microvascular and macrovascular disease, which account for the major morbidity and mortality associated with Type I diabetes (Daneman, 2006).

1.5.2. DIABETES TYPE II

Type II is the most common form of diabetes. Millions of people around the world have been diagnosed with Type II diabetes, and many more remain undiagnosed. People with diabetes are at a greater risk of developing cardiovascular diseases such as heart attack and stroke if the disease is left undiagnosed or poorly controlled. They also have elevated risks for sight loss, foot and leg amputation due to damage to the nerves and blood vessels, and renal failure requiring dialysis or transplantation (Pasinetti, 2011).

Before people develop Type II diabetes, they almost always have "prediabetes" – bloodglucose levels that are higher than normal but not yet high enough to be diagnosed as diabetes. Recent research has shown that some long-term damage to the body, especially the heart and circulatory system, may already be occurring during prediabetes(DePaula, 2008).

The increased concentration of blood glucose (Table 1) seen in type 2 diabetic patients is caused by a combination of insulin resistance in tissues such as skeletal muscle,

adipose tissue and liver, and a reduced function of the insulin producing β -cells in the pancreas.

Type 2 diabetes develops gradually and blood glucose levels begin to rise when insulin production becomes insufficient to overcome peripheral insulin resistance. In turn, high blood glucose levels can lead to both microvascular and macrovascular complications. Microvascular complications such as retinopathy, nephropathy and neuropathy are common in diabetes, and ultimately lead to loss of vision, foot ulcers/amputation and kidney failure. Furthermore, macrovascular complications, including coronary artery disease, myocardial infarction and stroke, are main causes of death among diabetic patients. Indeed, cardiovascular morbidity is two to four times greater in patients with diabetes compared to non-diabetic individuals (Adlerberth et al., 1998; Zimmet et al., 2001). Clearly, type 2 diabetes is not only a health burden for the affected individual, but also has an impact on society as a whole due to high costs for medical care.

	Fasting plasma glucose	2h plasma glucose
T2D	≥7.0 mmol/l	≥11.1 mmol/l
IGT	≥6.1<7.0 mmol/l	≥7.8<11.1 mmol/l

Table 1. Diagnostic criteria for type 2 diabetes (T2D) and impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) according to WHO. Type 2 diabetes can be diagnosed by measuring glucose levels in the plasma after an 8-14 h fast or by assessing the glucose levels two hours after a 75 g oral glucose load.

1.6. PREVALENCE

The number of people with diabetes is increasing rapidly worldwide and the disease is considered to have reached epidemic-like proportions (**Figure 1**). The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that more than 180 million people around the world have diabetes, which corresponds to 2.8% of the world population. This number is likely to more than double by 2030 (International Diabetes Federation, 2006; Wild et al., 2004; World Health Organization, 2009). The diabetes "epidemic" relates primarily to type 2 diabetes since it accounts for 90% of all cases of diabetes and the increase in the incidence of type 2 diabetes encompasses both developed and developing nations. In the United States 7.7% of the adult population was diagnosed with diabetes in 2006. Remarkably, when the number of patients with undiagnosed diabetes was added to these numbers the prevalence of diabetes was as high as 12.9%. In addition, another 30% of the population had elevated blood glucose levels and can thus be considered to be in a prediabetic state (Cowie et al., 2009). This is a large increase compared to 10-15 years earlier, when 5.1% of the population had diabetes (Cowie et al., 2009; Gregg et al., 2004), and 60 years earlier as little as 0.37% of the population was diagnosed with diabetes (Kenny SJ, 1995).

The largest increase in the prevalence of diabetes is expected in China and India (King et al., 1998; Zimmet et al., 2001). In fact, the "epidemic" is just beginning in the two most populated countries in the world. An increased lifespan, genetic vulnerability and urbanization, coupled with a sedentary lifestyle and more energy-rich food, are factors thought to contribute to the rapid increase in diabetes in this part of the world (Diamond, 2003; King et al., 1998; Zimmet et al., 2001).



Figure 1. Estimation of diabetes prevalence in the adult population worldwide. Data is presented as million people with diabetes estimated for the years 2007 and 2025, with the increase expressed in percent.

The primary cause of type 2 diabetes is unknown, and might differ between individuals (Martin et al., 1992; Yki-Jarvinen, 1994). Most likely, a combination of both genetic and environmental factors is involved in the etiology of type 2 diabetes. The impact of genetic factors is illustrated by the fact that the concordance rate for type 2 diabetes in monozygotic twins is 50% (Poulsen et al., 1999). Evidence supporting the influence of environmental factors is found in two populations of Pima Indians living in Arizona, the United States, and Sonora, Mexico. Despite sharing a similar genetic background the prevalence of type 2 diabetes differs 5-fold between these two groups. The westernized lifestyle of the Pima Indians in Arizona is thought to be the underlying factor behind the difference (Schulz et al., 2006).

1.7. GLUCOSE METABOLISM; INTEGRATION OF THE WHOLE BODY

Type 2 diabetes is a complex disease in the sense that defects can be found in all major organs involved in metabolic control of glucose homeostasis. Metabolism has to be considered in the context of the whole body, since "crosstalk" exists between different metabolic tissues (**Figure 2**).

In healthy humans, blood glucose levels are constantly held within a narrow range of approximately 5 mmol/l (Kopf et al., 1973). This is critical to ensure an adequate energy supply to organs relying of glucose as their energy source (for example the brain) and for protecting the blood vessels from damage due to dangerously high levels of glucose. Insulin is the primary hormone responsible for the strict maintenance of a balanced blood glucose level. Insulin is produced by the pancreatic β -cells in response to increased blood glucose levels after a meal and consequently stimulates glucose uptake in peripheral tissues such as skeletal muscle and adipose tissue while inhibiting hepatic glucose production. Insulin mediates its biological effects via interaction with the cell surface insulin receptor, resulting in activation of intracellular signaling pathways. To define the contribution of each tissue in the development of insulin resistance and altered glucose homeostasis tissue-specific ablation of the insulin receptor in mice has been used. Deletion of the insulin receptor in the liver (Michael et al., 2000) causes hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia. These changes are due to an inability of insulin to suppress hepatic glucose production, as well as decreased insulin clearance. Likewise, tissue-specific ablation of the insulin receptor in pancreatic β-cells causes glucose intolerance (Kulkarni et al., 1999) with a loss of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. On the contrary, mice with muscle-specific insulin receptor deletion have normal blood glucose and insulin levels, and respond appropriately to a glucose tolerance test (Bruning et al., 1998).



Figure 2. Crosstalk between different tissues in the regulation of glucose metabolism. Glucose enters the blood stream via uptake by the intestine after a meal or by release from the liver. Glucose is then used as an energy source and/or stored as glycogen in different tissues. Hormones and other signaling molecules are secreted from several tissues, and regulate whole body metabolism.

The decreased glucose uptake in the skeletal muscle of these animals is compensated by increased glucose uptake in adipose tissue, with a subsequent increase in body fat content and circulating free fatty acids and triglycerides (Kim et al., 2000). Thus, even though skeletal muscle-specific insulin-receptor knock-out mice do not develop glucose intolerance, impairments often seen in the diabetic patient are observed. Surprisingly, deletion of the insulin receptor in adipose tissue leads to a slight improvement in glucose homeostasis (Bluher et al., 2002). This is probably due to changes in levels of secreted factors from the adipose tissue, which affect other organs involved in metabolic control in a positive way. Finally, genetic ablation of the insulin receptor in the hypothalamus increases food intake and body fat content (Obici et al., 2002). These mice have normal blood glucose and insulin levels, but have increased hepatic glucose production.

The pancreas, which secretes insulin and glucagon, is not the only tissue releasing bioactive mediators that influence whole body metabolism. The "crosstalk" between the tissues involved in maintaining nutrient homeostasis is further achieved via the release of numerous adipokines and cytokines by several tissues, in particular adipose tissue. Adiponectin is the most abundant protein secreted by adipose tissue and it is negatively correlated to obesity and type 2 diabetes in humans (Weyer et al., 2001). Adiponectin improves whole body insulin sensitivity by increasing glucose uptake and lipid oxidation in skeletal muscle (Fruebis et al., 2001; Yamauchi et al., 1996), while reducing hepatic glucose production (Berg et al., 2001).

The level of the adipose-derived hormone leptin is directly related to the amount of adipose tissue. Leptin controls food intake and energy expenditure by acting in the central nervous system (Munzberg and Myers, 2005; Zhang et al., 1994). In peripheral tissues leptin increases fatty acid oxidation (Muoio et al., 1997) and glucose metabolism (Kamohara et al., 1997). Leptin resistance has been observed in obesity, where high levels of this hormone fail to promote weight loss (Munzberg and Myers, 2005). Other bioactive mediators derived from the adipose tissue that modulate metabolism include resistin (Steppan et al., 2001), retinol binding protein 4 (Yang et al., 2005) and possibly visfatin (Fukuhara et al., 2005; Sun et al., 2009).

Several pro-inflammatory cytokines are released from the adipose tissue with increased levels in obesity, including interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α). IL-6 has been implicated in insulin resistance (Bastard et al., 2002), but high concentrations of IL-6 are also secreted from contracting skeletal muscle, thereby increasing

peripheral insulin sensitivity (Steensberg et al., 2002), making the role of IL-6 in whole body metabolism unclear (Glund and Krook, 2008). In conclusion, balanced whole body metabolism requires coordinated regulation and involves an integration of multiple organs. Thus, it is not surprising that defects are noted in multiple tissues in type 2 diabetic patients.

1.8. INSULIN SIGNALING IN GLUCOSE TRANSPORT

In skeletal muscle and liver activation of the insulin signaling pathway regulates glucose and lipid metabolism, protein synthesis, gene expression, cell survival and differentiation (**Figure 3**).

Insulin receptor Insulin signaling is initiated by insulin binding to the insulin receptor (IR), expressed at the cell surface of all insulin-sensitive tissues. The IR belongs to the tyrosine kinase receptor family and congisists of four subunits; two extra-cellular insulinbinding α -subunits linked to two transmembrane β -subunits which possess intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity. Upon insulin stimulation, conformational changes trigger autophosphorylation of the β -subunits. This will activate the receptor and lead to tyrosine phosphorylation of a large number of substrate molecules setting off the signaling cascade (Baron et al., 1992; Rosen, 1987; White, 1997).



Figure 3. The insulin signaling cascade in skeletal muscle.

Insulin receptor substrates There are at least 12 substrates of the insulin receptor, including four different isoforms of insulin-receptor substrates (IRSs) (Sun XJ Nature 1991, 1648180, Sun XJ Nature 1995, 7675087, Lavan BE JBC 1997, 9111055, Lavan BE JBC 1997, 9261155), as well as Shc isoforms, Gab-1, p62, Cbl and APS (Baumann et al., 2000; Cai et al., 2003; White, 2003). IRS proteins have multiple tyrosine phosphorylation sites, and once phosphorylated they act as regulatory docking proteins that direct the insulin signaling cascade towards either metabolic or mitogenic events by binding to numerous proteins containing Srchomology-2 (SH2) domains.

Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase Among the downstream proteins of IRSs phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) has been shown to be essential for the action of insulin

on glucose and lipid metabolism. Chemical inhibition of PI3K blocks insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (Yeh et al., 1995). PI3K consist of a regulatory (p85) and a catalytic (p110) subunit, with several isoforms of each subunit (Taniguchi et al., 2006). When the regulatory subunit associates with IRS the catalytic subunit is brought close to the plasma membrane. PI3K is then able to phosphorylate phosphatidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate (PIP2) in the plasma membrane, leading to the production of the lipid second messenger phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate (PIP3), which in turn can bind to other signaling molecules and alter their activity or cellular localization. A key molecule downstream of PI3K is phosphoinositide-dependent kinase (PDK). PDK is consequently involved in the regulation of several kinases, including the serine/threonine kinase Akt and atypical protein kinase C (PKC) (Chou et al., 1998).

Akt (also known as protein kinase B) Three different isoforms of Akt have been identified (Brodbeck et al., 1999; Cheng et al., 1992; Jones et al., 1991), which relay the insulin signal via phosphorylation of multiple downstream targets to pathways triggering glucose metabolism, protein synthesis and cell survival.Once recruited to the plasma membrane Akt needs to be phosphorylated at Ser473 and Thr308 for full activation of its kinase activity (Alessi et al., 1996). PDK1 is the kinase responsible for the Thr308 phosphorylation (Alessi et al., 1997), whereas the identity of the Ser473 kinase (PDK2) has been a subject of debate. There is increasing evidence that mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) is a primary regulator of the Ser473 site (Sarbassov et al., 2005).

Akt activation promotes glucose metabolism by inducing glycogen synthesis through phosphorylation and inhibition of the enzyme glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) (Cross et al., 1995), which normally acts as a block on the pathways governing glucose incorporation into glycogen. In addition, phosphorylation of the Akt substrate of 160 kDa (AS160/TBC1D4) stimulates glucose uptake (Kane et al., 2002; Sano et al., 2003). Recently another Akt substrate with a similar size to TBCID4 has been identified and it is termed TBC1D1 (Roach et al., 2007). Insulin controls glucose uptake in skeletal muscle by regulating the movement of intracellular vesicles containing glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) (Birnbaum, 1989; Fukumoto et al., 1989; James et al., 1989) from an intracellular localization to the cell membrane (Hirshman et al., 1990; Karlsson et al., 2009). TBC1D1 and 4 have a GTPase-activating domain for Rabs, which are small G-proteins important for membrane trafficking and/or docking shown to be important for the GLUT4 translocation (Miinea et al., 2005).

Akt regulates cell growth and survival through inhibition of several pro-apoptotic agents including Bad and forkhead box O family of transcription factors (FOXO). Protein synthesis is regulated via the mTOR pathway, where mTOR controls the translation machinery by phosphorylation and activation of the ribosomal initiating factor eIF-4E, and p70S6K activated ribosomal biosynthesis (Manning and Cantley, 2003).

Mitogen-activated protein kinases Insulin exerts its mitogenic control via activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. This occurs through IRS activation of Grb2, recruitment of Son of sevenless (SOS) exchange protein to the plasma membrane and subsequent activation of Ras. Ras then activates a serine kinase cascade where MAP kinase kinase kinases (MAPKKKs) stimulate MAP kinase kinases (MAPKKs), which ultimately stimulate the three classes of MAPKs including extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38. Chemical inhibition of ERK reveals this kinase to be essential for insulin-stimulated cell growth without effecting glucose metabolism (Lazar et al., 1995).

1.9. CRITICAL NODES IN THE INSULIN SIGNALING CASCADE

The intracellular insulin signaling pathway in skeletal muscle is a complex cascade of phosphorylation events, which regulates glucose and fatty acid transport and metabolism, protein synthesis and gene expression. The existence of multiple isoforms for some of the signaling molecules adds further complexity to the signaling cascade.

The concept of "critical nodes" in the insulin-signaling pathway was introduced by Taniguchi *et al* (Taniguchi et al., 2006). A critical node is defined as a group of related proteins in a signaling network, where two or more of these related proteins have unique biological roles and therefore act as a junction where the signaling can take different tracks. A node is highly regulated, both positively and negatively, and is a site for "cross talk" with other signaling pathways. In the insulin signaling pathway, at least three different critical nodes have been described; the insulin receptor and its substrates (IRS), PI3K and Akt (**Figure 4**) (Taniguchi et al., 2006).



Figure 4. Critical nodes in the insulin signaling cascade. At each critical node (framed in blue), several related proteins have unique biological roles and therefore the node acts as a junction where the insulin signal can take different tracks. Modified from Taniguchi *et al*, (Taniguchi *et al.*, 2006).

Studies performed on genetically modified animal models have given insights into the specialized roles of the different IRS and Akt isoforms in the insulin signaling pathway. Four structurally related IRS isoforms are expressed in mammals; IRS1-4, where IRS-1 (White et al., 1985) and IRS-2 (Araki et al., 1994) are the most widely expressed isoforms (Wang et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2015).

Mice with a genetic ablation of IRS-1 have a marked reduction in intrauterine growth and remain small throughout life. Even though deletion of IRS-1 does not cause diabetes, the animals develop impaired glucose tolerance (Araki et al., 1994; Tamemoto et al., 1994). The importance of IRS-1 in peripheral glucose metabolism is highlighted by the fact that skeletal muscle and adipose tissue isolated from IRS-1-deficient mice have reduced insulinstimulated glucose uptake (Araki et al., 1994; Tamemoto et al., 1994; Yamauchi et al., 1996). The phenotype of IRS-2 deficient mice differs from the phenotype of IRS-1-deficient mice. Disruption of IRS-2 only leads to mild growth retardation, but the mice develop overt diabetes (Araki et al., 1994; Tamemoto et al., 1994).

In addition to peripheral insulin resistance deletion of IRS-2 causes progressive pancreatic β -cell failure, making the mice unable to compensate for the increased insulin demand (Withers et al., 1998). However, insulin-stimulated glucose uptake is intact in muscle isolated from animals with genetic ablation of IRS-2 (Higaki et al., 1999).

The IRS-3 and IRS-4 isoforms seem to be less important for the regulation of metabolism in skeletal muscle. IRS-3 is mainly expressed in liver and lung in rodents (Sciacchitano and Taylor, 1997), but expression is undetectable in humans (Bjornholm et al., 2002). Furthermore, IRS-3 depletion does not alter growth or glucose homeostasis in mice (Liu et

al., 1999). Likewise, IRS-4 knockout mice only show mild defects in glucose homeostasis (Fantin et al., 2000).

Three mammalian Akt isoforms exist, which are encoded by distinct genes. Despite close sequence homology between the three isoforms, knockout studies have revealed distinct roles for the Akt proteins. The Akt1 isoform is ubiquitously expressed and Akt1 deficiency leads to increased neonatal mortality and severe growth retardation (Cho et al., 2001b) due to a defect in placental development (Yang et al., 2003). However, glucose homeostasis is unaltered in these mice (Chen et al., 2001; Cho et al., 2001).

Akt2 deficiency leads to peripheral insulin resistance, as well as mild growth retardation and age-dependent loss of adipose tissue. Insulin-stimulated glucose transport is impaired in skeletal muscle from mice lacking Akt2 (Cho et al., 2001a; Garofalo et al., 2003). Furthermore, Akt2 is the most abundant isoform in insulin-responsive tissue (Altomare et al., 1998; Yang et al., 2003). Some compensatory effects between the Akt1 and Akt2 isoforms might exist, since mice with deletion of both isoforms die directly after birth, show dwarfism, have impaired adipogenesis and impaired development of skin, skeletal muscle and bone (Peng et al., 2003). Akt3 is expressed predominantly in brain and testis, and genetic ablation of Akt3 leads to reduction in brain size without any detected changes in glucose metabolism (Easton et al., 2005; Tschopp et al., 2005).

1.10. HEPATIC GLUCOSE PRODUCTION

The liver plays a central role in both glucose and lipid metabolism. Hepatic insulin resistance is thought to be the main factor in the development of fasting hyperglycemia (Biddinger et al., 2006). Type 2 diabetes is associated with an increased rate of basal HGP despite 2- to 4-fold elevations in insulin concentrations suggesting hepatic resistance to insulin (Bays et al.,

2004). In order to understand the contribution of liver insulin resistance to insulin resistance, liver insulin receptor knock out mice were generated. These mice developed hyperglycemia and compensatory hyperinsulinemia due to the inability to respond to insulin and suppress HGP. Increased HGP results from elevated glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis. Hepatic gluconeogenesis alone contributes 50-60% of HGP and is thought to be primarily responsible for increases in fasting glucose levels in individuals with type 2 diabetes (Bays et al., 2004). Gluconeogenesis is mainly regulated by the regulatory enzymes- phosphoenolpyruvate carboxy kinase (PEPCK), glucose 6-phosphatase (G-6-Pase), and fructose 1,6 bis-phosphatase. The rate of gluconeogenesis is regulated by hormones such as insulin which suppresses HGP, glucagon and glucocorticoids which stimulate gluconeogenesis, and adipokines adiponectin and leptin which suppress HGP (Bays et al., 2004). Sustained hyperglycemia, a characteristic of type 2 diabetes, enhances gluconeogenesis by enhancing PEPCK and G-6-Pase gene expression (Shao et al., 2005). In addition to chronic hyperglycemia, high circulating concentrations of FFA stimulate HGP by increasing activities of PEPCK and G-6-Pase. Studies have shown that infusion of FFA in normal subjects and obese insulin resistant individuals enhances HGP by stimulating gluconeogenesis (Bevilacqua et al., 1987) and is attributed to impairments in the insulin signaling pathway.

1.11. INSULIN RESISTANCE

The diminished ability of a given concentration of insulin to exert its usual biological effects is referred to as insulin resistance (Bays et al., 2004). Insulin resistance syndrome is a composite of abnormalities, including obesity, glucose intolerance, dyslipidemia and hypertension that eventually lead to type 2 diabetes (Biddinger et al., 2006). Liver, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue are the major sites for insulin resistance (Bays et al., 2004). Insulin resistance is characterized by increased glucose production by the liver, decreased glucose

uptake and utilization by skeletal muscle, and increased lipolysis in the adipose tissue (Bays et al., 2004). Insulin resistance syndrome is increasing at an alarming rate and affects 27% of adults in the United States. Moreover, approximately 50% of severely obese children have the insulin resistance syndrome (Biddinger et al., 2006).

1.11.1. Molecular mechanism of insulin resistance

Insulin resistance can be attributed to multiple mechanisms such as decreased synthesis, increased degradation of IR and signaling molecules, inhibitory serine phosphorylation of IRS proteins, alteration in the ratios of signaling molecules, and interaction of IR with inhibitory proteins (**Figure 5**). For instance, recent studies have demonstrated that an increase in SREBP-1c can result in a decrease in IRS-2 transcription (Ide et al., 2004). Insulin receptor and IRS proteins can undergo phosphorylation at the serine residue by protein kinase C (PKC), extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK), JNK and IKK β which decreases its activity. Insulin resistance can also be produced by interaction of inhibitory proteins with molecules in the insulin signaling pathway. For example, inflammatory cytokines induce suppressors of cytokine signaling proteins (SOCS) which bind to the IR and block its signaling (Biddinger et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2015).


Figure 5. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance

The molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance have been demonstrated extensively. in rodents and humans over the past two decades. Using 13C magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) to measure intracellular levels of glycogen synthesis in the muscle of individuals with type 2 diabetes (Rothman et al., 1992) demonstrated that insulin stimulated muscle glycogen synthesis was decreased by over 50% in patients with type 2 diabetes compared to normal individuals under hyperinsulinemic (80μ U/ml)-hyperglycemic (10mmol/l) clamp conditions. Furthermore, using 13C and 31P MRS studies to measure intracellular levels of glucose, glucose-6-phosphate and glycogen synthesis in muscle (Cline et al., 1992). In addition, studies with offspring of subjects with type 2 diabetes exhibited similar abnormalities. Results demonstrated that fasting plasma fatty acids were a good predictor for insulin

resistance in the healthy cohort with type 2 diabetic parents. Subsequent studies using 1H MRS to detect intramyocellular lipid showed that lipid content in the muscle was a better predictor for insulin resistance than plasma fatty acids in both adults and children (Krssak et al., 1992).

The mechanisms by which FFA induce insulin resistance in both humans and rodents have been elucidated. In the skeletal muscle, accumulation of intramyocellular fatty acyl CoAs and DAG from plasma or impaired β -oxidation activate serine/threonine kinases such as PKC (PKC- θ in rodents and PKC- δ in humans). Activated PKC- θ/δ phosphorylates IRS-1 on the serine residue instead of tyrosine residue which seems to negatively regulate IRS signaling. Similar to FFA, cytokines also induce similar defects in insulin signaling observed in insulin resistant states. Phosphorylation of serine residues in IRS-1 decreases insulin stimulated Akt2 activity, thereby decreasing GLUT-4 translocation and glucose uptake by the skeletal muscle.

In the liver, increased levels of DAG resulting from elevations in plasma FFA or suppressed β -oxidation activate PKC- ϵ leading to reduced IRS-2 tyrosine phosphorylation (Samuel et al., 2004). This decreases activation of glycogen synthase and glycogen synthesis, and increases glucose output due to impaired FOXO inhibition. In addition to these data, when certain Ser/Thr kinases (e.g., JNK, IKK- β , PKC- θ) were either knocked down or inhibited using pharmacological inhibitors, high fat diet induced insulin resistance was prevented in rodent models. Furthermore, recent studies in mice with specific Ser to Ala mutations in muscle IRS-1 (IRS-1 Ser- Ala302, Ser- Ala307 and Ser-Ala612) revealed protection against high-fat diet-induce resistance (Morino et al., 2006). Similarly, when mitochondrial glycerol-3phosphate acyl transferase, a key enzyme in de novo lipogenesis is knocked down, high fat induced synthesis of DAG is inhibited resulting in decreased PKC- θ activation and fat-induced liver insulin resistance.

Collectively, these data suggest that phosphorylation of key Ser residues on IRS plays an important role in the development of muscle and liver insulin resistance and have important implications for the development of novel treatment agents to prevent insulin resistance and NAFLD.

1.11.2. Mitochondrial dysfunction in insulin resistance

Mitochondrial dysfunction, whether associated with β -cell dysfunction or impaired oxidative and phosphorylative capacity of the skeletal muscle, plays an important role in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes (Petersen et al., 2003) demonstrated a 40% decrease in muscle oxidative and phosphorylation capacity along with increased intramyocellular and intrahepatic lipid content in healthy lean elderly subjects with severe insulin resistance compared to body mass index (BMI) and activity matched young control subjects. These data suggest that ageing may predispose individuals to loss of mitochondrial function which results in insulin resistance. Similar results in loss of mitochondrial function was observed in young lean insulin resistant offspring of parents with type 2 diabetes. In addition to an 80% increase in intramyocellular lipid content in these subjects, mitochondrial density was decreased by 38% determined by electron microscopy suggesting that mitochondrial dysfunction may be a predisposing factor for the development of insulin resistance. Key factors that have been identified as regulators of mitochondrial density in the skeletal muscle include peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ co-activator (PGC)-1 α and AMPK.

The cellular switch, AMPK, is activated during exercise and ischemia when there is a decrease in the ATP/AMP ratio. AMPK mediates its effects on increasing mitochondrial biogenesis via increase in PGC-1 α (Morino et al., 2006). It thus seems that the phenotype of insulin resistance depends on the components and tissues in which insulin signaling is altered and therapy should be directed at the specific pathway and tissue affected.

1.12. DEFECTS IN INSULIN SIGNALING

Defects in skeletal muscle metabolism appear to be an early event in the development of insulin resistance since decreased insulin-stimulated glucose uptake is found in healthy first-degree relatives of type 2 diabetic patients (Eriksson et al., 1989; Vaag et al., 1992). In view of the fact that GLUT4 protein levels are normal in skeletal muscle from type 2 diabetic patients (Eriksson et al., 1992; Kahn et al., 1992), while the GLUT4 translocation and glucose uptake are impaired (Dohm et al., 1988; Zierath et al., 1996) a large number of studies have focused on identifying defects in the insulin signaling cascade.

Impaired expression and tyrosine phosphorylation of the IR have been observed in skeletal muscle from morbidly obese type 2 diabetic subjects (Goodyear et al., 1995b). In contrast, insulin binding, protein expression and tyrosine phosphorylation of IR is normal in skeletal muscle from moderately overweight type 2 diabetic subjects (Arner et al., 1987; Krook et al., 2000). Multiple reports have described changes in phosphorylation patterns of IRS in insulin resistance. Decreased insulin-stimulated IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation and consequently activation of PI3K has been observed in skeletal muscle biopsies from patients with type 2 diabetes (Bjornholm et al., 1997; Kim et al., 1999; Krook et al., 2000, Cusi, 2000) and cultured myotubes from type 2 diabetic patients (Bouzakri et al., 2003; Nikoulina et al., 2001).

In addition to tyrosine phosphorylation IRS can be phosphorylated at multiple serine and threonine residues, which will either inhibit or enhance insulin signaling (Gual et al., 2005). Using a serine phosphatase inhibitor, increased serine phosphorylation was shown to interfere with the insulin receptor-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1 and its docking with PI3K. Multiple systemic factors associated with insulin resistance, for example free fatty acids and TNF- α , increase IRS-1 serine phosphorylation and thus inhibit its function (Gual et al., 2005, Yu et al., 2002). Impaired insulin-dependent activation of Akt has been reported in some (Krook et al., 1998), but not all (Kim et al., 1999) studies. The differences in Akt response between different groups of diabetic patients might be due to the existence of different Akt isoforms and later studies have reported isoform-specific defects. In skeletal muscle from obese subjects signaling defects were found at the level of Akt2 and Akt3, but not Akt1 (Brozinick et al., 2003). Moreover, decreased Ser473 phosphorylation on Akt2 and decreased Thr308 phosphorylation on Akt1 has been observed in cultured myotubes (Cozzone et al., 2008). Finally, insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of the Akt substrate TBC1D4 is impaired in skeletal muscle from type 2 diabetic subjects (Karlsson et al., 2005).

1.13. DOWNSTREAM SIGNALING OF TNF- α

The negative role of TNF- α in insulin resistance has been supported by the fact that removal of TNF- α function improves insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis in obese mice. In addition, an acute TNF- α infusion in healthy humans leads to insulin resistance through impaired insulin signaling and decreased glucose uptake (Plomgaard et al., 2005). The binding of TNF- α to the cell surface receptor TNF-R1 leads to the activation of two major transcription factors; c-Jun and nuclear factor- $\kappa\beta$ (NF- $\kappa\beta$), which subsequently results in activation of genes involved in the inflammatory process, stress responses and cell growth and development. TNF- α binding causes conformational changes in the receptor, which recruits the adaptor protein TNF receptor-associated death domain (TRADD). TRADD then acts as a platform for binding of other proteins, including receptor-interacting protein (RIP) and TNF receptor-associated factor 2 (TRAF2), leading to the activation of JNK and NF- $\kappa\beta$ pathways (Chen and Goeddel, 2002; Zhang et al., 2015).

The activity of NF- $\kappa\beta$ is dependent on cellular localization and under basal conditions it is controlled by inhibitor of nuclear factor- $\kappa\beta$ (I $\kappa\beta$). I $\kappa\beta$ masks the nuclear localization signal and thus prevents NF- $\kappa\beta$ from entering the nucleus. Upon TNF- α stimulation the serine kinase complex inhibitor of nuclear factor- $\kappa\beta$ kinase (IKK) is activated to phosphorylate the I $\kappa\beta$ complex and mark it for ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation. This releases NF- $\kappa\beta$ and permits translocation to the nucleus, where genes involved in the inflammatory process can be activated (Ghosh and Karin, 2002). The IKK complex consists of three subunits, IKK α and IKK β , which have regulatory functions, and IKK γ , which acts as a scaffolding protein. IKK β is the most important subunit for NF- $\kappa\beta$ activation.

In addition to the involvement of TNF- α signaling in the inflammatory process, activation of the signaling molecules JNK and IKK β have been implicated in insulin resistance (**Figure 6**) (Aguirre et al., 2000). Clues to the importance of the IKK β /NF $\kappa\beta$ axis in diabetes date back to 1876 when high doses of sodium salicylate (4-10 g/day) were observed to reduce glucosuria in diabetic patients. The effect of salicylate on blood glucose concentrations in diabetic patients was later verified (Hundal et al., 2002) and high does of salicylates were shown to reverse hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia in obese animal models (Yuan et al., 2001). The molecular target of salicylate was discovered to be IKK β . Heterozygote IKK β +/- mice have decreased blood glucose and insulin levels, and are partly protected from diet- or lipid-induced insulin resistance (Kim et al., 2001). The inflammatory cytokines like TNF- α , IL-6, and IL1 β can impair the insulin signaling pathway leading to insulin-resistant metabolic conditions (Wang et al., 2015).



Figure 6. TNF- α signaling. Initiation of TNF- α signaling leads to activation of two major pathways; JNK and NF- $\kappa\beta$. Both pathways have been implicated in the negative regulation of insulin signaling. TNF- α mediated activation of the IKK complex leads to pho sphorylation of IK β , which marks it for ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation. This sequence of events permits NF- $\kappa\beta$ to enter the nucleus and regulate gene expression.

1.13.1. TNF- α mediated effect on IRS phosphorylation

Increased IRS-1 serine phosphorylation is associated with negative effects on the insulin signaling pathway and has been described in connection with TNF- α -induced insulin

resistance (Hotamisligil et al., 1996). This led us to investigate the effect of TNF- α treatment and IKK β silencing on IRS-1 serine phosphorylation in human cells.

TNF- α treatment increased Ser312 (corresponding to Ser307 in rodents) phosphorylation of IRS-1 as previously described (Aguirre et al., 2000). Ser312 phosphorylation is thought to induce a conformational change of the IRS-1 molecule leading to reduced affinity for the binding between IR and IRS-1 and thus interfere with the propagation of the insulin signaling (Aguirre et al., 2002). JNK has been shown to be involved in the IRS-1 Ser312 phosphorylation (Aguirre et al., 2000).

1.13.2. TNF- α , insulin resistancy and dibetes type II

There is increasing evidence that suggests that both obesity and type 2 diabetes are inflammatory states. One such adipose derived inflammatory cytokine is TNF- α , that plays an important role in insulin resistance. **(Figure 7)** Elevated TNF- α levels have been reported in obesity and other insulin resistant states (Hotamisligil et al., 1993). In addition to TNF- α , the cytokine interleukin (IL-6) is secreted by adipocytes and is implicated in muscle insulin resistance and β -cell apoptosis (Shimabukuro et al., 1998). When TNF- α is infused into rodents, it is associated with development of insulin resistance, increased lipolysis, activation of inflammatory mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) isoforms including c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1 (JNK1) that mediates serine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1), activation of nuclear factor κ B (NF- κ B), induction of suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3), and production of ROS.



Figure 7. Inflammatory mechanism of obesity and insulin resistancy in diabetes

1.14. RNA INTERFERENCE

Over the last decade RNA interference has emerged as a powerful tool in target identification and dissection of signaling pathways. The phenomenon of RNA interference, where double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) triggers sequence-specific gene silencing, was first described in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* in 1998 (Fire et al., 1998). For their discovery, Andrew Fire and Craig Mello received the Nobel Prize in Medicine.

In nature several processes can generate dsRNA. RNA interference exists *in vivo* as a protection system against viral infection (Covey and Al-Kaff, 2000) and to secure the stability of the genome by keeping mobile elements (transposons) silent. Furthermore, endogenous small RNA molecules, called microRNAs (miRNAs), play a role in developmental regulation and are likely involved in several diseases including metabolic disturbances (Esau et al., 2006). Thus, RNA interference is not only a powerful research tool,

but might be used in functional genomics or as therapeutic agents/targets in the future (Dorsett and Tuschl, 2004; Jeyaseelan et al., 2007).

1.14.1. Mechanism of RNA interference

Regulated gene expression is fundamental for all living cells. According to the central dogma of molecular biology the genetic information in double-stranded DNA is transcribed into single-stranded messenger RNA (mRNA) in the cell nucleus and subsequently translated into protein in the cytoplasm. In RNA interference mRNA is destroyed before it can serve as a template for the translation into protein. Before Fire and Mello discovered the mechanism whereby RNA interference occurs gene silencing had been described in plants. With the purpose of deepening the color of petunias a chimeric gene important for color synthesis was introduced into the flower. Surprisingly, the transgene did not cause a deeper color, but instead the color disappeared, indicating that not only was the transgene inactive, it also blocked the endogenous expression. Sense or antisense single-stranded RNA was later discovered to have little effect on mRNA levels, but small amount of dsRNA could efficiently and specifically silence homologous mRNA (Fire et al., 1998).

Long dsRNA is cut into 21-23 nucleotide dsRNA fragments called short interfering RNA (siRNA) by a ribonuclease III-like nuclease known as Dicer. Thereafter, a large complex called RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) uses the siRNA fragments as template whereby the complex can be guided to and recognize homologous mRNAs, which will be cleaved and subsequently destroyed (**Figure 8**). The RISC complex contains at least one member of the argonaute protein family, which acts as an endonuclease and cuts the homogenous mRNA (Hammond et al., 2000).

Shortly after the mechanism of gene silencing by RNA interference was revealed techniques were developed to use RNA interference as a research tool to investigate the role of a specific protein. In mammalian cells, the introduction of long dsRNAs leads to non-specific stress reactions, but the problem was solved by the introduction of short (21 nucleotides) siRNA (Caplen et al., 2001). Since then siRNA has been used extensively in the dissection of signaling pathways (Al-Khalili et al., 2003a; Huang et al., 2008; Puri et al., 2007) and to identify new targets involved in the regulation of metabolism (Powelka et al., 2006).



Fig 8. Mechanism for siRNA transfection and mRNA degradation. After entry into the cell, long dsRNA sequences are cut into smaller pieces by Dicer. The RISC complex then uses the produced siRNAs to cleave homologus mRNA, and thereby interferes with the translation of mRNA into a protein.

1.15. Key role of MIG1 gene in metabolic switching

1.15.1. MIG1 gene, Glucose Repression and Metabolic Processes

The presence of glucose in industrial cultivation media has a he metabolism of other sugars. Glucose repression reduces the transcription rate of repressible genes, and is the most investigated mechanism of glucose control. So, it is of importance to develop strains in which glucose repression is relieved. Therefore, all sugars should be utilized, preferably simultaneously, to achieve optimal economic yield. Invertase (EC 3.2.1.26), the sucrosehydrolyzing enzyme, is expressed under control of glucose repression. In S. cerevisiae, six SUC genes (SUC1 to SUC5 and SUC7) are responsible to encode Invertase of which SUC2 is the most common one 2. Invertase is encoded by SUC2 including two forms, secreted and cytoplasmic. The secreted form of invertase is glycosylated and located in periplasmic space, digesting extracellular sucrose to glucose and fructose, both of which can be transported into the cell 6 (Galello et al., 2017). The cytoplasmic form is not glycosylated, and acts physiologically to cleave sucrose, transported across the plasma membrane. SUC2 gene repression following glucose uptake constitutes a regulatory cascade through a large number of regulatory elements. Mig1p, a zinc finger DNA-binding protein, is the main involved component that mediates glucose induced repression of sugars (Xu et al., 2018). Inactivation of MIG1 gene derepresses the expression of invertase encoded by SUC2. This protein resembles the mammalian Egr and Wilms' tumor proteins, the CreA repressor in Aspergillus nidulans and the Migl repressor in Kluyveromyces lactis. The MIG1 promoter has been reported to be autoregulated. Mig1p prevents transcription of SUC2 through the mechanism that mediates the binding of the general repressor Ssn6p-Tup1p complex to the regulatory part of SUC2. Snf1 kinase regulates glucose derepression of genes required for utilization of alternative carbon sources. The main mechanism is through glucose dependent

dephosphorylation of transcriptional repressor protein Mig1 (Shashkova et al., 2017). One important strategy to reveal the mechanism of Mig1-mediated repression is to investigate the physiological consequences of MIG1 deletion/disruption and/or MIG1 over expression. No absolute evidence could well explain the physiological changes by Mig1-redundant protein in a Δ MIGl mutant, i.e. a protein that is similar to Miglp and can partly be a substitute. A second repressor, Mig2p, which is 71% identical to Miglp, as well as a related protein, YerO28, have been identified. In microarray approached combinatorial control, MIG1 and MIG2 repress a largely overlapping set of genes but MIG3 does not seem to overlap in function with MIG1 and MIG2. Instead, MIG3 down regulates the SIR2 gene responsible for gene silencing and the control of aging. There are two approaches to silence MIG1 gene of which one is usually accomplished by disruption and substitution of the target gene with a selecting marker introduced by homologous recombination (Shashkova et al., 2017, Xu et al., 2018). The second alternative approach, which has been applied and researched in plant, is antisense gene expression. Disruption and replacement of MIG1 can derepress promoters of genes which are repressed by glucose. Prototrophic MIG1 disruptant (Δ MIG1) as well as its congenic wild-type strain (2805) were analyzed for expected physiological changes in peripheral metabolism (batch cultivations on sugar mixtures) and central metabolism. During the cultivations, an attempt was made to monitor the parameters of glucose consumption, biomass production, intracellular protein content and patterns of metabolite production to understand how the effect of MIG1 removal can shift to oxidative pathway of metabolism. The strain can be optimized as a host for further processing of recombinant production with advantages of being eukaryotic.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY

2.1. CELL CULTURE

An assured cell culture is the basis of success in the process of gene transfer. Different cells require special conditions such as serum, culture media and complementaries. According to the source of cells, they grow attached or suspended. Adherent cells needs to a anchorage environment and usually grow in the form of monolayers in cell culture dish. This connection is essential for cell proliferation and, many after reaching the stage of Confluent (in which cells cover all levels of culture dish) would lose the power of self-replication and die. Most of the isolated cells from tissues are attached type. The suspended types not required anchorage to grow. Hematopoietic cells derived from the blood, spleen and bone marrow are of this type (Sato et al., 2000). In terms of proliferation capacity, cells divided into three groups: Primary, Finite and Continuous. The primary type is of animal tissue cells which are then separated by enzymatic, chemical or mechanical methods and grown in culture. These cells attached to the culture dish and are morphologically like tissue. These cells proliferated in a limited number then enter to a stable phase and finally die. in overall, working with these cells is far more difficult than cell lines.

These cells are physiologically similar to in vivo cells environment. The finite cells, are actually the Primary cells with limited power of proliferation. However, these cells will ultimately die. The continuous cell type or cell lines, have unlimited replication potential and this character of immortality makes the possibility to be easily work on it. Even though it should also be considered to these cells because of changes occurring in their genotypic and phenotypic markers are not of in vivo conditions (Sato et al., 2000).

2.2. Hepatic cell line, HepG2

Hepatocellular carcinoma cells (HepG2 cells) possess the same bioactivity as normal hepatic cells, which are valuable for investigating liver-associated functions and stable during many passages. The HepG2 cell line was cultured in high glucose Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA) supplemented with 10% v/v heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS, Hyclone, Logan, UT, USA) and 1% v/v penicillin/streptomycin antibiotic solution at 37 C under 5% CO2 atmosphere. The medium was changed every other day. For mRNA or protein analysis, HepG2 cells were cultured for 24 h in DMEM supplemented with 1% FBS in the presence or absence of PA (25 mM). For the analysis of insulin signaling, treated HepG2 cells were incubated with or without 100 nM of insulin for 20 min before harvest (Alipourfard et al., 2019a).

2.3. Matreials and equipments required for cell culture

- 6 wells plate
- A variety of filtered pipettes
- 37 ° C incubator
- Falcon (plastic pipe) 15 and 50 ml
- 70% alcohol
- Rack for tubes
- DMEM culture medium
- FBS (Fetal Bovine Serum)
- Inverted microscope
- culture flask

- PBS solution 1X

- EDTA-Trypsin solution

- Antibiotics streptomycin (100 μ l / mL) and penicillin (100 unit / mL)

2.3.1. The preparation of FCS (Golestani et al., 2006)

- Fetal bovine serum (Gibco), a bottle of 500 ml
- capped sterile large tubes, 10 pieces

Because of the recommended temperature for storing FCS, 20- $^{\circ}$ C, so initially put the container FCS from freezing outside and it was given the opportunity to be processed. To deactivate the complement then, for 30 minutes in water bath at 56 $^{\circ}$ C was used. Because the FCS should not be freezed frequently, so it is best that after a first melt to be divided into smaller volumes. Commonly each purchased bottle containing 100 ml of FCS, so after deactivation under the hood and with the help of a sterile pipette, was divided in ten sterile falcon tubes. The tubes were stored at -20 $^{\circ}$ C.

2.3.2. The preparation of buffer PBS 1X [Qiagen Transfection Kits]

dissolving of 137 mM NaCl, 7.2 mM KCl, 10 mM Na2HPO4 and 2 mM KH2PO4 in 800 ml of sterile distilled water and after adjusting pH in 4/7 should reach to one liter capacity by adding sterile distilled water. to sterile the buffer, transfer 100 ml of it to a autoclavable jar cast and autoclaved for 15 minutes. PBS sterile solution is stored at 4 ° C.

2.3.3 . The Preparation of Trypsyn- solution EDTA (Hodges et al., 1973)

25.0 g trypsin and 2.0 g EDTA dissolved in 70 ml of PBS 1X buffer lacking calcium and magnesium ions and then with PBS 1X solution the final volume is brought to 100 ml. After

sterilizing it with a syringe filter (2.0 micrometers) kept at -20. Small amounts of this solution can be stored for 1-2 weeks at 8-2 °C.

2.3.4. The preparation of cell culture medium [Dulbecco & Freeman method]

- ingredients:
- DMEM powder
- Net deionized water
- L-Glutamine Powder
- Sodium bicarbonate powder (Cell culture grade)
- penicillin / streptomycin solution
- FCS

To prepare 500 ml of medium DMEM, 5 grams of DMEM powder, 85.1 grams of sodium bicarbonate and 2.0-3.0 gr of L-Glutamine was dissolved in 450 ml pure water, and after djusting the pH to 2.7 by hydrochloric acid, the final volume was reached to 500 ml. Then the medium was filtered through 2.0 micrometer sterile syringe filter under laminar hood and sterile conditions. This incomplete DMEM stored at 4° C. To maintain complete DMEM were added v/v 10% FCS and v/v1% solution of penicillin / streptomycin it.

2.4. PREPARATION of HepG2 CELL CULTURE

2.4.1. Preparation of HepG2 cells

Firstly DMEM culture without FCS and antibiotics (1%) are placed in a hot water bath at 37 ° C. afterwards, FCS (10%) and penicillin / streptomycin (1%) solution added in the sterile condition to provide the complete culture. A vial of HepG2 cells frozen in liquid nitrogen is

placed in a hot water bath. After melting, it will be added to 4 ml of culture medium in a Falcon and mixed gently few times with a pipette, then centrifuged at 1200 rpm speed for 5 minutes. Following the remove of supernatant cell precipitates homogenized slowly with 1 ml complete culture by Pasteur pipette. Homogenized product with 5 ml culture transferred to a flask 25 mL incubated overnight in 5% CO2 and at 37 ° C. The next day, the flask medium is replaced with fresh DMEM culture. the cells should observe daily in terms of contamination and growth under the microscope. After 3-2 days reaching to 80-90 % confluency cells are ready for trypsynation.

2.4.2. Trypsynation of the Cells

In first, the medium and floating cells were removed from flasks and cells attached to the bottom of the flask were washed twice with PBS 1X. Then, 1 ml PBS 1X and 1ml Trypsyn-EDTA was added to the monolayer cells in flask. Then for 1-2 minutes flask placed in incubator at 37 ° C. A few hits the wall of the flask, would liberate the attached cells. 4 ml complete DMEM culture was added to the flask to inactivate trypsyn by serum available in culture. mixing with Pasteur pipette several times separate the cells from each other. The cells are transferred to a Falcon to be centrifuged for 5 minutes 1200rpm. after discharging the supernatant, 1 ml culture medium added to precipitated cells slowly with Pasteur pipette and homogenized. The number of cells are counted using a Neubauer slide using Trypan blue for cell counting solution. The colored cells considered as dead and non-colored cells as living cells. After the count, the desired number of cells for subsequent experiments were transfered to the container. For example, in this study for transfection experiments, 50 cells were added to each well of the 6 well plate.

2.5. Decreased expression of genes through siRNA

siRNA as a powerful tool to disrupt gene expression discovered accidentally within experiences need to enter the RNA to cells. It was observed that the insertion of a specific double-stranded RNA molecules into cells leads to inhibition of expression of the genes containing the sequences in the molecule of double-stranded RNA. So, entering a specific RNA molecules can interfere with the expression of a particular gene (Hutvagner and Zamore., 2002). RNA interference mechanism is largely known. When a double-stranded RNA molecule enters into a cell, an enzyme called Dicer will break it to fragments of approximately 21 nucleotides. Each piece of siRNA compose of 19 base pairs and two unpaired base at the end of '5 either. After separation, single-stranded RNA molecules that are either called small interfering RNA (siRNA) binds to an enzymatic complex called RNA induced silencing complex (RISC). The Single-stranded piece of RNA that is bound to the enzyme acts as a guide and allows RISC to destroy sequences which is complementary with siRNA (Hutvagner and Zamore., 2002). siRNA can be chemically synthesized for a particular gene and transfected into eukaryotic cells, leading to reduced expression of the gene specifically. Unfortunately, this type of inhibition of gene expression is temporary.

Application of shRNA based on plasmid or virus expression has made possible to reduce expression in long-term (Haghani et al., 2015). In this method, a fragment including desired target siRNA, a sequence corresponding antisense and middle strand sequence would be cloned inside is a plasmid. After transcription, the sequence between compose the formation of a hairpin structure, which allows pairing sequence provides sense and antisense. This RNA duplex then broken by Dicer into 21 neucleotide pieces and eventually leads to decreased expression of the target gene through the RISC complex (Bantounas et al., 2004). In order to knock down TNF- α gene, shRNA-mediated technique was performed (Haghani et al., 2015) by using shRNA lentiviral particles (Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., Heidelberg, Germany), which were designed to suppress the production of TNF- α in liver cells (Alipourfard et al., 2019a).

2.2.4. Temporary plasmid DNA transfection into Hep-G2 cell line by using calcium phosphate method (Alipourfard et al., 2019a).

Transfection, transfer of foreign molecules such as DNA or RNA into eukaryotic cells emerged as a powerful tool for the study and control of gene expression respectively. Inserted genes may be investigated in biochemical characteristics, mutation analysis, gene regulation effect on cell growth. The Select of appropriate technology for gene transfer to cells strongly affect the results of this process. A favorite technique should be a convenient way of speed, and have ease, efficiency, reliability and minimal cytotoxicity. Transfection methods are generally classified into three groups: (Prokop et al., 2007)

1) chemical (calcium phosphate, DEAE- dextran, cationic liposomes and non-liposomic lipids)

2) Physical (electroporation and microinjection)

3) viral (virus vectors)

In this study, the calcium phosphate chemical method was used. The procedure was performed according to the following steps.

2.6.1. Required solutions:

A) HEBS 20X

18.8 g NaCl, 95.5 HEPES and 0.106 g NaHPO4 in 40 ml of pure distilled water, and the final volume to be placed 50 ml solution placed. Then, this solution filtered and stored in -20°C.

B) 2 mM CaCl2, 1.61 mM Tris-HCL

2.22 g CaCl2, 1.61 ml solution of 1 M Tris-HCl (7.5= pH) and 0.65 ml of 1 M NaOH were dissolved in 8 ml of pure distilled water, and pH adjusted to 7.5 then final volume reached to 10 ml. This solution is then sterilized with filter and kept at a temperature -20°C.

C) HEBS 2X

1 ml solution X HEBS and 0.1- 0.15 ml solution of 1 M NaOH with pure distilled water reached to a final volume of 10 milliliters. PH should be 7.1- 7.2. This solution is then sterilized with filter and maintained at -20°C.

2.6.2. Method

1. Day first : 3×10 cells were cultured in each well of a six-well plate, in DMEM (1% antibiotics and FCS 10%).

2. Day second : when 60-70% of the plate floor was covered by cells, replaced the culture medium with fresh one and the cells were incubated for 2 hours in a CO2 incubator.

3. Then DNA solution was prepared by the following method:

32.5 microliter of solution 2 mmol CaCl - 1.61 mM Tris-HCl added to 10 micrograms of plasmid and the final volume reached to 525 ml with distilled water.

4. 525 microliters of solution HEBS 2X was added at the bottom of a Falcon. Then within vortex of the Falcon, DNA solution was added drop by drop (at this point is solution becomes milky).

5. 30 minutes incubation at room temperature was carried out.

6. Then 1 ml of falcon contain added to 2 ml culture in each wells and mixed by cross like shaking to distribute DNA calcium-phosphate precipitant.

7. 16 hours after transfection medium in each well removed and the cells were washed twice with DMEM without FCS and antibiotics till calcium phosphate is almost eliminated.

8. 2 ml complete DMEM added to each well placed environments.

9. after 48 hours cells transfected with GFP plasmid were observed by inverted fluorescence microscope and transfected cells with plasmid smashed with the lysis buffer and their protein contents extracted for Western blot test.

2.7. WESTERN BLOT (Bakhtiyari et al., 2010; Alipourfard et al., 2019a).

To confirm the down-regulation of TNF- α protein level, Western blot method was used. The base of this method is linkage between antibodies and their specific proteins.in this trial antibodies specific for TNF- α were used. In addition, to eliminates errors due to unequal loaded amounts of protein samples, the structural protein beta actin was used as housekeeping gene. Using software TotalLab density of different bands of protein measured and the density of TNF- α band of each sample was divided to the density of beta actin on the same sample to cause loading related error to be removed.

2.7.1. Required solutions

1. Storage Akrylamide solution 30%: 29.2 gr Akrylamide, 0.8 gr bis Akrylamide in final volume of 100 ml.

2. Down gel buffer: 18.2 gr Tris-base, 0.4 gr SDS in final volume of 100 ml, PH=8.8.

3. Up gel buffer: 6.1 gr Tris-base, 0.4 gr SDS in final volume of 100 ml, PH=6.8.

4. Tank buffer: 3 gr Tris-base, 14.4 gr Glycine, 1 gr SDS in final volume of 1000 ml, PH=8.3.

5. Sample loading buffer 5X: 10 ml up gel buffer, 5ml Glycerol, 1 gr SDS, 0.5 ml bromophenol blue solution (0.1% in ethanol), 1 ml 2-Mercaptoethanol in final volume of 20ml.

6. Ammonium persulphate 10%: 0.1 gr Ammonium persulphate solved in 1 ml distilled water.

7. Protease inhibitor cocktail: 1 tablet solved in 1 ml distilled water.

8. Lysis buffer: 2.5 gr sodium deoxycholate (DOC), 2.5 ml NP-40, 2.5 ml EDTA 0.5 M, 95 mgr EGTA in final volume 250 ml, PH=7.4. when using added 10% v/v protease inhibitor and PMSF with 2 mM concentration.

9. Washing buffer or TBS-T: 1.21 gr Tris-base, 8.77 gr NaCl, 5 ml Tween-20 in final volume 1000 ml, PH=7.5.

10. Blocking buffer: 5% skimmed milk in TBS-T buffer.

11. Transfer buffer: 6 gr Tris-base, 28.8 gr Glycine, 300 ml Methanol in final volume of 2000 ml, PH=8.3.

2.7.2. Protein extraction

1. cells after trypsination, washed 2 times with cold PBS buffer and was centrifuged for 5 minutes each time.

2. Then for each 1 million cells was added 200 microliter lysis buffer included 10% v / v protease inhibitor and 2mM PMSF to the vial containing the cells.

3. The cells were homogenized with lysis by insulin syringe 5-7times.

4. The mixture for 30 minutes on ice with gentle Shaking were incubated.

5. The above vials was centrifuged in 13000 rpm for 10 minutes and the temperature of 4 °C.

6. supernatant containing protein extracts were isolated, and its concentration was

determined using Bradford method. Protein extracts were then kept in -70°C.

2.7.3. SDS-PAGE electrophoresis

SDS-PAGE electrophoresis was performed according to the following steps: **1**. First electrophoresis system components including glassy plates, spacer and comb, washed , cleaned with soaked thoroughly and were cotton in alcohol. **2**. By Use the spacer, the gel form was and placed on its location respectively. **3**. Resolving gel 8% prepared with appropriate volumes of the following solutions: 3.25 ml storage 30% AKrylamide solution, 3 ml sample buffer, 6.2 ml distilled water, 0.05 ml Ammonium persulphate 10%, 0.05 ml TEMED, Total Vol: 12.1 ml.

43

4. The solution prepared in the previous step was delivered to 2.5 cm distance before the end of the mold and immediately 1 ml of distilled water was slowly added.
5. When the gel formed, distilled water was removed.
6. Stacking gel 4% was prepared as follow storage solutions and was poured in the form of gel. The comb was put in place.

0.65 ml storage 30% Akrylamide solution, 1.25 ml stacking gel buffer, 3.05 ml distilled water, 0.05 ml Ammonium persulphate, 0.015 TEMED, Total Vol: 5 ml.

7. When stacking gel formed, comb was removed and the wells washed with the electrode buffer then prepared mold was placed in the electrophoresis tank.

8. Samples were mixed at a ratio of 1: 4 with sample buffer and then placing it in a boiling water bath for 5 minutes, later loaded in wells. At the same time in a well standard molecular weight was shed.

9. After throwing electrophoresis buffer tank, flow was restored to 100 volts for one hour.10. With the arrival of color reagents to the end of the gel, the electrical flow stopped and gel separated in order to transfer of proteins from gel to the PVDF sheets (purchased from Sigma company).

2.7.4. Transfer of proteins from gel to PVDF sheets

Since the antibodies cannot bind to the proteins on the gel, the proteins should transfer to **PVDF** So sheets. the following for transfer performed: steps the was 1. After SDS-PAGE, PVDF paper was cut to the right size with the gel placed for 10 minutes in the cold transfer buffer. some filter papers fitted with gel size and Western blot sponges transfer buffer. placed in were 2. After wetting all the above components, western sandwich was made from the bottom to the up containing of: sponge, filter paper, gel, PVDF sheet, filter paper and sponge. 3. The mentioned sandwich placed in tank of somehow to locate the gel at cathode (-) side and the PVDF of anode (+) side. Then the tank filled out with transfer buffer to cover thoroughly the form and has been connected to the power supply. The transfer voltage of 100 V for 1 hour in 4 °C was done.

2.7.5. Blotting stage

After discontinuation of electrical flow blotting was performed according to the following steps:

1. To prevent non-specific connection of antibodies to PVDF sheet blank parts should be blocked. For this purpose PVDF transfer out of the tank and incubated overnight in blocking buffer in 4 °C.

2. The next day PVDF twice, each time for 5 minutes with gentle shaking rinsed by washing buffer. In each wash buffer was replaced with fresh buffer.

3. The appropriate dilution of primary antibodies (usually 1/1000) prepared in washing buffer containing BSA 1% and PVDF sheet was incubated in it for 1 hour with gentle shaking.

4. PVDF paper once for 15 minutes and three times for 5 minutes rinsed with gentle shaking by washing buffer.

5. In next stage, appropriate dilution of secondary antibodies conjugated with HRP (usually 1/10000) was prepared in washing buffer containing BSA 1% and PVDF sheet was incubated for 1 hour with gentle shaking.

6. Again, washing like step 4.

7. to reveal the bands of PVDF, was incubated in an ECL solution (a type of chemiluminecense substrate which can convert by HRP into a light emitting itself) for 1-2 minutes.

8. Then, in the darkroom, PVDF was placed in the vicinity of X-ray film special for western

blot for 1-5 minutes.

9. Again, washing like step 4.

10. In the next stage, film processing was done. For this purpose X-ray film was placed in developing solution until the bands appear. Then rinsed in water for 1-2 minutes and put in a fixing solution.

11. The film was scanned and semi-quantitative analysis of bands was performed with a software TotalLab.

2.8. Treatment with palmitate (Seahorse Bioscience)

Given that the cell culture medium is a aqueous environment, fatty acids and lipids generally are insoluble. So to access the cells to fatty acid palmitate is essential that to make it soluble. For this purpose, a mechanism similar to the transport of fatty acids in the blood by albumin was used and palmitate was conjugated with free fatty acid-BSA according to below steps: 1- Free fatty acid-BSA with ratio 1% w / v was added to DMEM culture medium without antibiotics and FCS then dissolved.

2. The necessary amounts of palmitate to prepare the desired concentrations (0.25, 0.5, 0.75 mM) were weighed and dissolved in ethanol 50% and 50°C.

3. alcohol-based palmitate solution was added to the culture medium containing free fatty acid-BSA.

4. Then solution was incubated at 37 °C for 2 hours with shaking (rpm 100).

5. after 2 hours this culture medium was sterilized with filter and cells were treated with.

2.9. Compare the key elements of insulin signaling pathway in normal cells with decreased TNF- α expression

To investigate the effect of decreased TNF- α expression on insulin signaling pathways, positive phosphorylation (which leads to increase of activation) of two key molecules, IRSand Akt, was analyzed semi-quantitavely in the presence and absence of palmitate. To analyze the amount of phosphorylation, Western blotting was performed in the manner described above. The difference is that for phosphorylation analysis of IRS-1, a primary antibody against phosphotyrosine 632 and for Akt of primary antibodies against phosphoserine 473 were used. In addition, in this experiment to remove the error caused by loading the sample rather than for β - actin, western blot analysis was performed for proteins IRS and Akt. All other stages are quite similar to the Western blot method.

2.10. Glucose Uptake Test

Radioactively-labeled 2-deoxy-D-glucose was applied to determine glucose uptake in myotubes. After incubation, radioactivity was measured in the cell lysates. 2-deoxy-D-glucose is a glucose analogue where the 2-hydroxyl group has been replaced by hydrogen. Like glucose, 2-deoxy-D-glucose is taken up by cells and phosphorylated by hexokinase, but not further metabolized. Thus, the molecule is trapped inside the cell and by measuring the accumulation of the radiolabeled isotope, an estimate of glucose uptake can be determined. Cells were grown and differentiated in 6-well plates as described above. After overnight serum starvation cells were pre-incubated with or without 120 nmol/l insulin in Krebs buffer (140 mmol/l NaCl, 5 mmol/l KCl, 2.5 mmol/l MgSO4, 1 mmol/l CaCl2, 20 mmol/l HEPES, pH 7.4) with 0.1 % BSA for 60 min. Following four repeated washes, cells were incubated for 10 min with 0.67 μ Ci/well 2-deoxy-D-glucose [1,2-3H(N)] (1 mCi/ml, final specific activity 50 Ci/mmol; Amersham) in Krebs buffer supplemented with 10 μ mol/l 2-deoxy-D-glucose. After washing with ice-cold PBS cells were lysed in 0.4 mol/l NaOH and radioactivity was

determined in a liquid scintillation counter. To determine non-specific uptake parallel incubations were performed in the presence of 50 μ mol/l cytochalasin B (Sigma) and non-specific uptake was subtracted from the total. Cytochalasin B exposure reduced glucose uptake approximately 15%. Each experiment was performed in triplicate and normalized by protein concentration, as assessed by the Pierce method (BSA Protein Assay Kit). Since the concentration of glucose in the incubation media is known the results can be expressed either as counts per minute, or calculated to nmol glucose taken up by the cells per min and per mg of proteins. In the latter cases, radioactivity was measured in 20 μ l of radioactive media with a known concentration of glucose (triplicate samples), giving the amount glucose taken up in each assay.

Optimization of glucose uptake protocol: The rate of insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in TNF- α down-regulated cultured cells is low compared to intact normal cells. For example, in normal cultured cells insulin increases glucose uptake 1.2-1.4-fold (Al-Khalili et al., 2003), whereas in TNF- α down-regulated cultured cells insulin increases glucose uptake more than 2-fold (Karlsson et al., 2006, Krook et al., 2000). One possible explanation for the different fold-increase in glucose uptake between them may be the lower GLUT4 expression in TNF- α down-regulated cells(Sarabia et al., 1992). In an attempt to optimize the glucose uptake assay, and possibly increase insulin-stimulated values, different protocols were tested. The following parameters were analyzed:

- Changes in the concentration of non-radioactive 2-deoxy-D-glucose (10 mmol/l instead of 5 mmol/l).
- Changes in the concentration and time of radioactive labeled 2-deoxy-D-glucose (1 μCi for 15 min instead of 0.67 μCi for 10 min).
- Use of glucose free DMEM for incubations instead of Krebs buffer.
- Changes in the pre-incubation time with insulin (30 min instead of 1h).

2.11. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

All statistical analyzes were performed using SPSS software. Each experiment was repeated at least three times. The comparison between all groups was performed by using ANOVA. If there were differences statistically significant, then T-Test was applied. The values of p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

2.12. Upstream and downstream fragments of MIG1 gene cloning, MIG1 disruption and recombinant screening

Both forward and reverse primers provided by Oligo and Blast software for each of Nfragment (before starting codon of MIG1) and C-fragment (after stop codon of MIG1) included restriction sites for EcoRI and BamHI. Primers were made by Clontech Company according to the N- and C- terminal sequences of MIG1 gene. PCR amplification of N and C terminal fragments was performed by thermocycler according to instructions followed: initial single denaturation at 94 °C for 5 min, 30 cycles of denaturation at 94 for 30 s, annealing at 45 °C for 45 s, extension at 72 °C for 1 min and final extension at 72 °C for 5 min. The correct amplification of PCR products (N-fragment of 400 bp, Cfragment of 600 bp) was confirmed by gel electrophoresis (Alipourfard et al., 2018).

The amplified N and C fragments were cleaned up by PCR product purification kit (Biogen Company). The purified products enabled restricted digestion of fragments on suitable restriction sites which existed within the primers. Namely, N fragments were digested with EcoRI and BamHI enzymes and C fragments were digested with XbaI and BamHI enzymes. The restriction digestion reactions were carried out for overnight at 37 °C. The enzymes were inactivated in 10 min at 65 °C. After gel electrophoresis of digested fragments, 400 and 600 bp DNA bands corresponding to N-and C- fragments, respectively, were extracted from gel 16. The gel purified N- and C- fragments were inserted into plasmid pBluescript II SK (Stratagene) using Fermentase DNA cloning kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific Company). The resulted constructed plasmid pMIG1 consists of BamHI as midline restriction site between inserted N- and C-

fragments. Furthermore, plasmids were transferred to Escherichia coli (E. coli) DH5 α (Bethesda Research Laboratories). E. coli was transformed by electroporation using a Gene Pulser (Pulse Controller, Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The growth of transformants in LB culture media containing ampicillin (100 mg/ml) and X- α -gal (as screening agent) and IPTG (as galactose metabolism inducing factor) allowed selection of white colonies consisting of pMIG1 plasmid. The recombinant pMIG1 plasmid consisted of plasmid pBluescript, N- and C- fragments digested with BanHI and inserted with selection marker, URA3 (Alipourfard et al., 2019b)..

The wild strain of yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* was transformed by PEG/Li acetate method to replace to produce MIG1 disrupted strains. URA3 enables recombinant yeast to synthesize required uracil for growing in uracil-lacked medium (SC-URA). To measure sugars and extracellular metabolites, cultivation medium was sampled, immediately filtered through a 0.45 mm pore size cellulose acetate filter. Glucose, galactose, maltose, ethanol, glycerol, acetate and pyruvate were separated on an Aminex HPX-87H ion exclusion column HPLC and were detected refractometrically or spectrophotometrically (Alipourfard et al., 2019b).

3. RESULTS

3.1. Effect of TNF-a down-regulation on insulin signaling and metabolic syndrome processes of hepatic cell lines

The overall goal of this research work is to dissect pathways regulating glucose and lipid metabolism in human liver cell. Investigation of these pathways will give further insight into the action of insulin, and could reveal novel molecular targets for treatment of insulin resistance in obesity or type 2 diabetes. In this regard the specific aims are to explore following aspects:

A) Whether palmitate can induce insulin resistance in HepG2 cells.

B) The role of palmitate in stimulation of TNF- α protein expression in HepG2 cells.

C) Whether the decreased expression of TNF- α can promote positive phosphorylation of key insulin signaling molecules, Akt, and IRS-.

D) Does the reduction of TNF- α expression leads to palmitate induced insulin resistance in HepG2 cells?

3.1.1. Cell Cultures

Cells were grown in complete DMEM culture medium (containing FBS10%, antibiotics 1%) and in terms of contamination and daily growth rate observed under inverted microscope, if necessary, replaced the culture medium and photographed. The cells in the early stages are spherical form, after 2-3 days, and covering 70-80% of the culture surface are ready for trypsination (**Figure 9**).



(A)

(B)

Figure 9. Cell culture in complete DMEM medium.

(A) HepG2 after one day are spherical form. (B) HepG2 after 3 days are ready to passage.

This process has been observed and photographed with inverted microscope.

3.1.2. Transfection with Calcium Phosphate Method

In order to evaluate the efficacy of calcium phosphate method, GFP (green fluorescent protein) plasmids were used for transfection. 48 hours after transfection of the plasmids into cells, GFP would be expressed throughput to be seen in green when exposed to UV light inverted fluorescent microscope. The higher number of green cells, its efficiency is more approach. As seen in **Figure 10** evenly, calcium phosphate method is a highly efficient method to transfect cells HepG2.



Figure 10. HepG2 cells transfection with GFP plasmids using calcium phosphate method. Cells inserted GFP seen green under UV light of inverted microscope.

3.1.3. Temporary Transfection

Since HepG2 cells were transfected with plasmids shRNA TNF- α (TNF- α Knockdown cells), plasmids lacking shRNA TNF- α (control cells) and plasmids containing shRNA which interferes with none of the intracellular mRNA (Scramble Cells) under using calcium

phosphate method. Equal amount of each protein sample was loaded and then Western blotting was performed after determining the protein concentration. The results of Western blotting showed that the TNF- α gene expression compared to control cells, in cells transfected with shRNA TNF- α has reduced approximately 53% compared to scramble and normal cells which suggests that the plasmid containing shRNA against TNF- α causes the highest rate of TNF- α silencing (**Figure 11**). It is noted that due to T-test, the value rate of gene expression reduced to p < and considered to be significant.



Figure 11. Reduction of TNF- α expression in HepG2 cells following transfection with, (1) shRNA TNF- α plasmid, (2) plasmid lacking shRNA TNF- α , (3) Nonsense plasmid, using Calcium Phosphate method. HepG2 cells transfected with μ 20g of each plasmids 1-3. 48 hours later western blot performed for TNF- α and β -Actin as internal control. The amounts of TNF- α protein normalized by

considering the amounts of β -Actin protein. The date achieved of three independent experiments and shown as mean \pm SD, p<0.05

3.1.4. Increase of insulin signaling pathway in cells with reduced TNF- α expression affected by palmitate.

As mentioned in the Materials and Methods, to evaluate insulin signaling, the positive phosphorylation of two key molecules in this pathway, namely tyrosine 632 in molecule IRS-1 and serine 473 analyzed by Western blot testing. The results showed the phosphorylation of tyrosine 632 of IRS-1 (in the case of stimulation with insulin) in the treatment with palmitate, both in normal and down-regulated cells decreased (**Figure 12**). In terms of stimulation with 100 nM insulin and treated with mM palmitate tyrosine 632 phosphorylation of IRS- molecules in TNF- α down-regulated expression cells of 29% (p < 0.05) and in normal cells 58% (p < 0.05), although insulin stimulation of 100 nM and absence of palmitate the phosphorylation of tyrosine 632 of molecule IRS-1 findings 33% (p < 0.05) in TNF- α down-regulated expression compared to normal cells of 50% (p < 0.05) has been reduced.

Control Cells TNF-a Knockdown Cells

Insulin(100Nm)	-	+	+	-	+	+
Palmitate(0.5 mM)	-	-	+	-	-	+

P-(Tyr632)-IRS-1





Figure 12. Effect of palmitate on amount of Tyr 632 phosphorylation of IRS-1 molecule in HepG2 cells TNF- α down-regulated expression and normal ones. Cells treated with palmitate and before harvest incubated in presence and absence of insulin conditions. Western blot test performed by using antibody against phosphotyrosine 632 of IRS-1 and IRS-1(as internal control). The amount of phosphorylation of tyrosine 632 of IRS-1 normalized with adjacent IRS-1 control molecules. The date has been achieved of three independent experiences and demonstrated as mean ± SD, p<0.05.

In conditions without treatment with insulin and absence of palmitate there was not significant differences in tyrosine 632 phosphorylation of IRS-1 molecules in TNF- α decreased expression and normal cells (p <0.05). However, the treatment with palmitate 0.5 Mm reduced the tyrosine 632 phosphorylation of molecule IRS-1 in both down-regulated TNF- α expression and normal cells, the amount of phosphorylation in the presence of palmitate mM in cells with decreased expression of TNF- α approximately 1.3 times (p

< 0.05) higher cells. 12) is than normal (Figure In this study, the effect of palmitate on phosphorylation of serine 473 of Akt molecules in TNF- α down-regulated cells and of the normal cells was examined (Alipourfard et al., 2019a).

The results showed that the phosphorylation of serine 473 of Akt molecule (in the case of insulin stimulation) with treatment of palmitate, has been decreased in both TNF- α down-regulated expression and normal cells. In terms of stimulation with 100 nM insulin and treated with mM palmitate the serine 473 phosphorylation of Akt molecules in TNF- α down-regulated expression cells of 18% (p <0.05) and in normal cells 69% (p <0.05), although insulin stimulation of 100 nM and absence of palmitate the phosphorylation of serine 473of molecule Akt 20% (p <0.05) in TNF- α down-regulated expression compared to normal cells of 23% (p <0.05) found to be reduced. In non-insulin treatment conditions and lack of palmitate there was not significant differences in serine 473 phosphorylation of Akt molecules in TNF- α decreased expression and normal cells (p < 0.05).



Akt


Figure 13. Effect of palmitate on amount of Ser 473 phosphorylation of Akt molecule in HepG2 cells TNF- α down-regulated expression and normal ones. Cells treated with palmitate and before harvest incubated in presence and absence of insulin conditions. Western blot test performed by using antibody against phosphoserine 473 of Akt and Akt (as internal control). The amount of phosphorylation of Serine 473 of Akt normalized with adjacent Akt control molecules. The date has been achieved of three independent experiences and demonstrated as mean ± SD, p<0.05.

However, the treatment with palmitate 0.5 Mm reduced the serine 473 phosphorylation of molecule Akt in both down-regulated TNF- α expression and normal cells, the amount of phosphorylation in the presence of palmitate mM in cells with decreased expression of TNF- α approximately 3.9 times (p <0.05) is higher than normal cells. **(Figure 13)**

Furthermore, there was not a significant difference between the amounts of IRS-1 and Akt proteins in TNF- α down-regulated expression cells in compare to normal cells, in the presence of palmitate.

3.2. Key role of MIG1 gene of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in metabolic switching of fermentation /oxidation

3.2.1. Construction of disrupted mutant yeast

The haploid wild type strain 2805 of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* was selected to test the feasibility of suppressing effect of *MIG1* by gene disruption and to simplify direct isogenic comparison of *MIG1* expressing strains with that of *MIG1* disrupted mutants. The confirmation of amplification of N and C fragments of *MIG1* gene sequence with 400 and 600 *bp*, respectively, were compared to size marker (**Figure 14**).



Figure 14. Amplified N fragment (400 *bp*) and C fragment (600 *bp*) of MIG1 chromosomal gene of Saccharomyces Cerevisiae. The size marker (SM) contains of bands for each equals to 100 *bp*.

Insertion of N and C fragments in pBlueskript II plasmid and transformation to *E. coli* DH5a leading to antibiotic resistance attributed to the bacterial aminoglycoside phosphotransferase-encoding *APT2* gene which is inserted between the *PGK* promoter and terminator. After replica plating to X- α -Gal medium under inducing conditions with galactose and glycerol, transformed bacterial strains were isolated (Data not shown). Upon

transformation of strain 2805 with pBluescript II integrated with N and C fragments of *MIG1* sequence interrupted with URA3, several clones of yeast able to grow in SC-URA were isolated .

3.2.2. Metabolic assessment after MIG1 disruption

For batch cultivations on glucose, each of the Saccharomyces strains 2805 and Δ MIG1 were grown on 40.0 g/L of glucose. The results were from the study of aerobic metabolism under defined conditions of glucose control. Each experiment was repeated at least three times. The achieved results were analyzed by using SPSS 21.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL) software. All normally distributed continuous variables were demonstrated as mean.

3.2. 3. Glucose consumption, ethanol production, cell protein content and growth rate

Glucose consumption in Δ MIG1 mutant was proceeded to wild 2805 strain by 25.0% within several batch and lag phase measurements (**Figure15A**). The maximum specific growth rate of 2805 and of Δ MIG1, calculated from nine simultaneous optical density measurements demonstrated 0.39 and 0.43 h⁻¹, respectively. Thus, MIG1 disruption led to 12.0% average increase of specific growth rate on glucose (**Figure15B**).



Figure 15. Concentration of A) glucose, B) cell mass, C) ethanol, and D) cell protein in batch cultivations of wild strains 2805 (\blacksquare) and \triangle MIG1 (MIG1 disrupted mutant) (\blacktriangle) on a medium with glucose control conditions. The data achieved of three independent experiences and calculated mean values have been demonstrated for each amount on the related graph, (n=3), p<0.05, significantly different characteristics of mutant strain from respective wild strain.

In batch cultivation, the rate of carbon flux directed to ethanol production in $\Delta MIG1$ strain was reduced about 24.0% (*C-mmol/1*) of lag phase cultivation (Figure 15C). The less formation of ethanol and related anaerobic metabolites at a higher rate with $\Delta MIG1$ than with 2805 demonstrates considerable shifted metabolism from respiro-fermentative to respiratory pathway (Alipourfard et al., 2019b). Intracellular protein content accounted for both strains showed 22.0% (w:w) difference to significant increase in $\Delta MIG1$ compared with 2805 (Figure 15D).

3.2.4. Glycerol, pyruvate and acetate formation

The carbon fluxes have been increased to respiratory metabolism pathway. It is indicated by more remarkable formation of oxidative metabolites markers, i.e glycerol and pyruvate which have been produced 122.86 (C-mmol/L) and 40.0% (C-mmol/L) in Δ MIG1 prominent than strain 2805, respectively. Conversely, the decrease of fermentative metabolite of acetate by 34.58% (C-mmol/L) has been observed. The differences between the rate of metabolite production within cultivation period have been calculated and expressed as percentage (Δ %) (Figure 16).





The comparison between all continuous variables was performed by using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). If there were statistically significant differences, then Tukey's PostHoc test was applied. The values of p<0.05 were considered statistically significant (Alipourfard et al., 2019b).

4. DISCUSSION

4.1. TNF- α Downregulation Modifies Insulin Receptor Substrate 1 (IRS-1)

Several genetic and environmental factors have been determined to involve in insulin resistance, of which TNF- α has taken much concentration recently. Studies have shown that insulin resistance is associated with elevated plasma levels of TNF- α and causes a higher level of expression in tissues such as adipose and skeletal muscle. On the other hand, it has been frequently reported that the elevated level of saturated fatty acids, namely palmitate as the most abundant one in plasma, leads to insulin resistance in insulin target tissues. In order to understand the possible role of TNF- α as an inflammatory mediator cytokine on insulin signaling inhibition, we designed the current course of TNF- α levels in the simulated obese HepG2 cells under treatment with palmitate. The idea is consistent with the previous studies regarding elevated expression of TNF- α in the liver and skeletal muscle in palmitate-induced insulin resistance condition. Our results demonstrated the highest induced TNF- α protein levels on 16-hour treatment with palmitate (0.5 mM). This indicates the etiological role of elevated palmitate on TNF- α overexpression in obese insulin resistance hepatocytes. The molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance have been demonstrated extensively. Multiple

systemic factors associated with insulin resistance, for example, free fatty acids and TNF- α , can reduce IRS-1 serine phosphorylation and thus inhibits is associated with negative effects on the insulin signaling pathway and has been described in connection with TNF- α -induced insulin resistance. The elevated TNF- α levels have been reported in obesity and other insulin-resistant states. The experiment of TNF- α knockdown was carried out by shRNA-TNF- α lentiviral particles containing shRNA specifically for TNF- α . This process resulted in nearly 53.0% reduction in TNF- α protein levels (compared to normal cells). It is noted that due to *t*-test, the value rate of gene expression was reduced to p < 0.05 and considered to be significant. It suggests that the particles containing shRNA to silence TNF- α gene cause the efficient rate of TNF- α Mediators of Inflammation knockdown. The process of TNF- α downregulation was then followed by palmitate treatment to avoid coincidence reactions between TNF- α level changes and inhibition of insulin signaling. The tyrosine 632 phosphorylation of IRS-1 after treatment of cells with palmitate and stimulation with insulin showed less reduction of 55.0% (p <0.05) in TNF- α -- downregulated cells compared to the normal cells of 71.0% (p < 0.05). Although the treatment with palmitate 0.5mM generally reduced the tyrosine 632 phosphorylation of the molecule IRS-1 in both TNF- α downregulated and normal cells, the amount of phosphorylation in $TNF-\alpha$ -downregulated cells is approximately 1.3 times (p < 0.05) higher than the normal cells. The achieved results confirm that the reduction of TNF- α expression in HepG2 cells improves insulin-stimulated Tyr632 IRS-1 phosphorylation. Our results were parallel to the other studies approaching the reduction of TNF- α through different strategies and have demonstrated improved insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle, liver cells, and animal models. To sum up, according to our data, palmitate can dysregulate the insulin signaling pathway and causes diabetic insulin resistance by increased expression of TNF- α in hepatocytes (Alipourfard et al., 2019a).

The results demonstrated that palmitate (0.5 mM) induction can induce the highest TNF- α level on 16 hours of treatment. The molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance have been demonstrated extensively (Rothman, 1992). In the liver, increased levels of DAG

resulting from elevations in plasma FFA or suppressed β -oxidation activate PKC- ϵ leading to reduced IRS tyrosine phosphorylation (Ravichandran, 2001) This decreases activation of glycogen synthase and glycogen synthesis, and increases glucose output. The interaction between intracellular TNF- α signal and insulin cascade has been trialed. The role of certain serine kinases (e.g., JNK, IKK- β , and PKC- ζ) through knocked down process or inhibition by pharmacological inhibitors has been determined in insulin resistance induced by high fat diet. Regulation of serine phosphorylation of IRS proteins is major molecular mechanism of insulin resistance which is accomplished by activity of several serine kinases include of JNK, IKK, Akt, mTOR, ERK, PKC-ζ, glycogen synthase kinase 3, and casein kinase II. Akt is a key serine kinase activated by its own phosphorylation within TNF- α signal pathway. However, as a common component of both pathways its regulatory activation in term is not clear and has been focused by this research. We examined the Akt positive phosphorylation and its activity in TNF-deleted and non-deleted obese cells. The results show that TNF- α activates Akt serine kinase more in obese cells than normal cells. We consider that there are two biological meanings of Akt activation. First, activation of Akt may contribute directly to insulin resistance by induction of IRS-1 serine phosphorylation. Second, activation of Akt may account for part of acute inflammation events such as enhancement of glucose uptake by TNF- α . Although activity of Akt, in serine phosphorylation of IRS-1 have been reported (Paz, K, 1999), it remains to be studied how Akt serin kinase act in insulin resistance induced fatty acids. Additionally, its role in insulin sensitization by TNF- α romoval have not been reported. In this research, both issues were addressed. Akt phosphorylates IRS-1 at Ser267/270 as reported. Some studies mention that the phosphorylation leads to inhibition of IRS-1 (Ogihara, 1997) and some indicate the phosphorylation is required for activity of IRS-1. Akt serine phosphorylation is associated with effects on the insulin signaling pathway and has connection with TNF- α -induced insulin resistance. This led us to investigate the effect of TNF- α silencing on Akt serine phosphorylation in human obese cells. Our result supports that activation of Akt kinase promotes the activity of IRS-1 and subsequently leads to

improve of obesity condition in hepatocytes. The experiment of TNF- α knockdown carried by shRNA-TNF- α lentiviral particles that include shRNA specifically for TNF- α . This process resulted in nearly 48.6% reduction in TNF- α protein levels (compared to normal cells). The process of TNF- α gene knock-down and reduction in gene expression was considered significant (p <0.05). Followind TNF- α down regulation, cells were treated with palmitate in order to avoid coincidence reactions between TNF- α changes and inhibition of insulin signaling. The serine 473 phosphorylation of Akt after treatment of cells with palmitate and stimulation with insulin showed increase of 58.7% in TNF- α down-regulated cells compared to the non down-regulated cells of 14.9% (p < 0.05). Although the treatment with palmitate 0.5 mM generally reduced the ser 473 phosphorylation of the molecule Akt in both TNF- α down-regulated and non down-regulated normal cells, the amount of phosphorylation in TNF- α down-regulated obese cells is approximately 3.9 times (p <0.05) higher than non down-regulated obese cells (Alipourfard et al., 2019a.). The achieved results confirm that reduction of TNF- α protein expression in HepG2 cells improves insulinstimulated ser473 Akt phosphorylation. Our results were parallel to the other studies approaching to reduction of TNF- α through different strategies which have been resulted in improved insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle, liver cells and animal models. In summary, according to our data palmitate can dysregulate insulin signaling pathway and causes diabetic insulin resistance by increased expression of TNF- α in hepatocytes.

4.2. MIG1 gene has a role in metabolic switching of fermentation/oxidation

Saccharomyces cerevisiae can utilize a wide range of carbon sources; however, the presence of glucose suppresses the use of alternate carbon sources and also gluconeogenesis and respiration. These effects are exerted by several genes involved in the metabolic pathways. Among them, the zinc finger protein, Mig1 (multicopy inhibitor of GAL gene expression) plays important roles in glucose repression of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. To investigate whether the alleviation of

glucose effect would result in a switch to oxidative production pathway, MIG1 were disrupted in a haploid laboratory strain (2805) of *S. cerevisiae*. The impact of this disruption was studied under fully aerobic conditions when glucose was the sole carbon source.

In this research, the chromosomal metabolic gene, MIG1, disrupted by homologous recombination through antisense technique using upward and downward, N- and C-, fragments of MIG1 gene was applied to study the metabolic effects on yeast. Lateral fragments, N and C, after amplification were inserted in yeast specified vector, pTcURA3 alongside metabolic selection marker URA3. After transformation to yeast, MIG1 gene would be replaced with URA3 marker. It can be happened by recombination between its lateral N and C fragments and resembles sequences already inserted into the vector lateral to URA3 marker. This transformation enables the yeast to synthesize required nutrient uracil. In fact, through this method, MIG1 disrupted strain can be screened by growth on uracil negative medium. Then, further analyses of central and peripheral metabolic pathway have been done to approach variations between mutant and intact wild strain. The glucose accessibility is the most important environmental factor to regulate oxidation and fermentation metabolic pathways of Saccharomyces i.e., glucose concentration in batch inhibits the utilization of other carbon resources, the catabolic inhibition. Hexokinase PII starts glucose inhibition cascade and Snf1p as a signal transductor phosphorylates mig1p (regulatory zinc finger protein of MIG1 gene) which makes inhibitory complex with Ssn6 (cyc8)-tup1 components (Carlson, 1987) and binds to promoter of glucose controlled genes. The MIG1 gene was cloned in 1990 for the first time. Deletion of MIG1 demonstrates a greater impact on peripheral functions than on central metabolism. There are recent evidences which persist on the role of Hexokinase 2 (Hxk2) in regulation of DNA-binding repressor proteins of Mig1 protein and glucose repression signal in nucleus. Hxk2 acts as an intracellular glucose sensor that operates by changing its conformation in response to cytoplasmic glucose levels and regulates dephosphorylation of Mig1. In the present study, Δ MIG1 strain 2805 could utilize more glucose in comparison to the wild strain within the first 12 hr to reach to the zero point (Alipourfard et al., 2018.). When the glucose concentration is high,

Snf1p is inactivated and non-phosphorylated mig1p would remain in nucleus and represses transcription of dependent genes. Conversely, in low concentration of cultivation glucose, phosphorylated MIG1p can migrate to cytoplasm and leads to removal of repression status. The deletion of MIG1 can eliminate glucose repression partially from peripheral functions, rather than completely from central metabolic functions. The outcome of this deletion has been considered significant in industry because glucose is the most useful sugar among the carbon resources for yeast in industry process. This can delay uptake of other sugars resulting in elongation of production process. Therefore, an effective alleviation of glucose control would help to achieve a better process economy for the cultivation of baker's yeast, alcohol fermentation, bread-making and recombinant protein production. In some studies, it has been proved that disruption of MIG1 cannot remove the entire glucose repression effect from galactose, maltose and sucrose metabolism. Therefore, substantial MIG1-independent glucose control mechanisms exist for the GAL, MAL and SUC systems. On the other hand, glucose through MIG1 regulation process has several repression effects on the expression of GAL family genes like GAL2, GAL3, GAL4, and GAL80. They are involved in the metabolism of galactose and highly affected by MIG1 disruption. Imp2p is a MIG1 related regulator of GAL genes and has the positive effect on glucose derepression of the maltose, galactose and raffinose utilization pathways and in resistance to thermal, oxidative or osmotic stress of S. cerevisiae. The finding that CAT8 was derepressed in a ΔMIGI strain, whereas Cat8-controlled FBPI, PCKI and ZCLI were not, gives a clear hint of the existence of other repressors such as MIG2 or a posttranslational modification of an effector such as the phosphorylation of the derepressor Cat8. The study of the effect of simultaneous deletion of MIG1/MIG2 genes on physiology of Saccharomyces exhibited that glucose control of maltose and sucrose metabolism was derepressed in disrupted MIG1/MIG2. However, the lag phase of galactose cultivation diminished and further deletion of MIG2 could not affect glucose dependent metabolism of galactose. The MIG1 gene was silenced by antisense MIG1 expression (Alipourfard et al., 2019b). The results of evaluation of glucose consumption, cell biomass production and intracellular protein contents by Optical Densitometry (OD) method and Invertase enzymatic activity assays demonstrated the more flexible growth of Δ MIG1 strains under the sufficient amount of oxygen and glucose. This is evidential for removal of glucose repression effects and impressive shift to more oxidative metabolism in comparison to wild strains. Yeast cell

cultivations are effectively stressed by chemical metabolites produced within growth phase namely acids and high percentage of ethanol which can suppress the yeast growth. Deletion of MIG1 can switch fermentative metabolism to aerobic pathway. It results in the production of less fermentative products like ethanol and acetate. Meanwhile, the promotion of Krebs cycle leads to more acidic derivative products such as glycerol and pyruvate (Alipourfard et al., 2019b). The data from the current research approved the similar concept. However, the increase of glycerol production in mutant strain is much prominent than what has been reported in similar studies. Such modifications in peripheral and central metabolic functions could satisfy industrial interests which attempt to have optimal engineered strains for recombinant production.

5. CONCLUSION

The data obtained support the evidence that downregulation of TNF-a and the related signalling has a potential possibility of targeting treatemnt. It can countribute to the improvement of insulin resistance in hepatic cells which is induced by palmitate. Taking these findings together, It could be a strong point in the management of metabolic and cardiovascular diseases, obesity and lipid disorders and diabetes T2DM.

This study showed the amount of ethanol measured by HPLC method in mutant ($\Delta MIG1$) and wild strain of yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cultivations which determined less production of $\Delta MIG1$. Enhancement of biomass production in $\Delta MIG1$ strains can lead to higher amount of intracellular protein content and carbohydrates. In the current research, results of strain $\Delta MIG1$ 2805 could confirm similar achievements rather than wild types. As to peripheral functions, efforts have already been exerted in production of partially derepressed galactose, maltose and sucrose metabolisms. For central functions, industrial interest could promote attempts in the metabolic engineering of strains that exhibit higher specific growth rates for baker's yeast or recombinant protein production, or of distiller's yeast strains that give higher ethanol yields.

REFERENCES

- Adlerberth, A.M., Rosengren, A., and Wilhelmsen, L. (1998). Diabetes and longterm risk of mortality from coronary and other causes in middle-aged Swedish men. A general population study. Diabetes Care 21, 539-545.
- Aguirre, V., Uchida, T., Yenush, L., Davis, R., and White, M.F. (2000). The c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase promotes insulin resistance during association with insulin receptor substrate-1 and phosphorylation of Ser(307). J Biol Chem 275, 9047-9054.
- Aguirre, V., Werner, E.D., Giraud, J., Lee, Y.H., Shoelson, S.E., and White, M.F. (2002). Phosphorylation of Ser307 in insulin receptor substrate-1 blocks interactions with the insulin receptor and inhibits insulin action. J Biol Chem 277, 1531-1537.
- Al-Khalili, L., Cartee, G.D., and Krook, A. (2003a). RNA interference-mediated reduction in GLUT1 inhibits serum-induced glucose transport in primary human skeletal muscle cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 307, 127-132.
- Al-Khalili, L., Chibalin, A.V., Kannisto, K., Zhang, B.B., Permert, J., Holman, G.D., Ehrenborg, E., Ding, V.D., Zierath, J.R., and Krook, A. (2003b). Insulin action in cultured human skeletal muscle cells during differentiation: assessment of cell surface GLUT4 and GLUT1 content. Cell Mol Life Sci 60, 991-998.
- Alessi, D.R., Andjelkovic, M., Caudwell, B., Cron, P., Morrice, N., Cohen, P., and Hemmings, B.A. (1996). Mechanism of activation of protein kinase B by insulin and IGF-1. EMBO J 15, 6541-6551.

- Alessi, D.R., James, S.R., Downes, C.P., Holmes, A.B., Gaffney, P.R., Reese, C.B., and Cohen, P. (1997). Characterization of a 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase which phosphorylates and activates protein kinase Balpha. Curr Biol 7, 261-269.
- Alipourfard I., Bakhtiyari, S., Datukishvili N., Haghani, K., Di Renzo L., De Miranda, R.C., Cioccoloni, G., Basitatyan Yadi P., Mikeladze D. (2018) Saccharomyces cerevisiae, key role of MIG1 gene in metabolic switching: putative fermentation/oxidation. Journal of Biological Regulators & Homeostatic Agents, vol. 32, no. 3, 649-654.
- Alipourfard, I., Datukishvili, N., Mikeladze D. (2019a) TNF-α Downregulation Modifies Insulin Receptor Substrate 1 (IRS-1) in Metabolic Signaling of Diabetic Insulin-Resistant Hepatocytes. Mediators of Inflammation. vol. 2019, Article ID 3560819, 6 pages.
- 10. Alipourfard I., Datukishvili N., Bakhtiyari, S., Haghani, K., Di Renzo L., Costa de Miranda, R., Mikeladze D. (2019b) MIG1 Glucose Repression on Metabolic Processes of Saccharomyces 1 Cereviceae: Genetics to Metabolic Engineering. Avicenna Journal of Medical Biotechnology (AJMB). vol. 11, No. 3 July-September 2019.
- 11. Altomare, D.A., Lyons, G.E., Mitsuuchi, Y., Cheng, J.Q., and Testa, J.R. (1998). Akt2 mRNA is highly expressed in embryonic brown fat and the AKT2 kinase is activated by insulin. Oncogene 16, 2407-2411.
- 12. Applied Biosystems (2009). http://www.ambion.com
- Angulo, P. *et al.* (2004) 'Leptin, insulin resistance, and liver fibrosis in human nonalcoholic fatty liver disease', *Journal of Hepatology*, 41(6), pp. 943–949. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2004.08.020.
- 14. Araki, E., Lipes, M.A., Patti, M.E., Bruning, J.C., Haag, B., 3rd, Johnson, R.S., and Kahn, C.R. (1994). Alternative pathway of insulin signalling in mice with targeted disruption of the IRS-1 gene. Nature 372, 186-190.

- 15. Arner, P., Pollare, T., Lithell, H., and Livingston, J.N. (1987). Defective insulin receptor tyrosine kinase in human skeletal muscle in obesity and type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia 30, 437-440.
- Bakhtiyari, S., Meshkani R., Tghikhani M., Larijani B., Adeli KH. 2010, Plamitate tyrosine phosphatase – 1B knockdown improves palmitate – induced insulin resistance in C2C12 skletal muscle cells, Lipids, 45, 237-244.
- Bantounas I., Phylactou LA ., Uney JB. 2004, RNA interfrerence and the use of small interfering RNA to study gene function in mammalian systems, J Mol Endocrinol, 33(3), 545-57.
- 18. Barnes, B.R., Marklund, S., Steiler, T.L., Walter, M., Hjalm, G., Amarger, V., Mahlapuu, M., Leng, Y., Johansson, C., Galuska, D., Lindgren, K., Abrink, M., Stapleton, D., Zierath, J.R., and Andersson, L. (2004). The 5'-AMP -activated protein kinase gamma3 isoform has a key role in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in glycolytic skeletal muscle. J Biol Chem 279, 38441-38447.
- Barros, R.P., Machado, U.F., Warner, M., and Gustafsson, J.A. (2006). Muscle GLUT4 regulation by estrogen receptors ERbeta and ERalpha. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 1605-1608.
- 20. Barros, R.P., Morani, A., Moriscot, A., and Machado, U.F. (2008). Insulin resistance of pregnancy involves estrogen-induced repression of muscle GLUT4. Mol Cell Endocrinol 295, 24-31.
- 21. Bastard, J.P., Maachi, M., Van Nhieu, J.T., Jardel, C., Bruckert, E., Grimaldi, A., Robert, J.J., Capeau, J., and Hainque, B. (2002). Adipose tissue IL-6 content correlates with resistance to insulin activation of glucose uptake both in vivo and in vitro. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87, 2084-2089.
- 22. Bays H., Mandarino L., DeFronzo RA. (2004). Role of the adipocyte, free fatty acids, and ectopic fat in pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus: peroxisomal proliferator-

activated receptor agonists provide a rational therapeutic approach. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89, 463-478.

- Bellacosa, A., Testa, J.R., Staal, S.P., and Tsichlis, P.N. (1991). A retroviral oncogene, akt, encoding a serine-threonine kinase containing an SH2-like region. Science 254, 274-277.
- 24. Berg, A.H., Combs, T.P., Du, X., Brownlee, M., and Scherer, P.E. (2001). The adipocyte-secreted protein Acrp30 enhances hepatic insulin action. Nat Med 7, 947-953.
- 25. Berger, B., Stenstrom, G., and Sundkvist, G. (1999). Incidence, prevalence, and mortality of diabetes in a large population. A report from the Skaraborg Diabetes Registry. Diabetes Care 22, 773-778.
- 26. Bevilacqua S., Bonadonna R., Buzzigoli G., Boni C., Ciociaro D., Maccari F., Giorico MA., Ferrannini E. (1987), Acute elevation of free fatty acid levels leads to hepatic insulin resistance in obese subjects. Metabolism 36: 502-506.
- 27. Biddinger SB., Kahn CR. (2006) From mice to men: insights into the insulin resistance syndromes. Annu Rev Physiol 68: 123-158.
- 28. Birnbaum, M.J. (1989). Identification of a novel gene encoding an insulinresponsive glucose transporter protein. Cell 57, 305-315.
- 29. Bjornholm, M., He, A.R., Attersand, A., Lake, S., Liu, S.C., Lienhard, G.E., Taylor, S., Arner, P., and Zierath, J.R. (2002). Absence of functional insulin receptor substrate-3 (IRS-3) gene in humans. Diabetologia 45, 1697-1702.
- 30. Bluher, M., Michael, M.D., Peroni, O.D., Ueki, K., Carter, N., Kahn, B.B., and Kahn, C.R. (2002). Adipose tissue selective insulin receptor knockout protects against obesity and obesity-related glucose intolerance. Dev Cell 3, 25-38.
- Boden, G. *et al.* (1994) 'Mechanisms of fatty acid-induced inhibition of glucose uptake', *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 93(6), pp. 2438–2446. doi: 10.1172/JCI117252.

- 32. Borissova, A.M., Tankova, T., Kirilov, G., and Koev, D. (2005). Gender-dependent effect of ageing on peripheral insulin action. Int J Clin Pract 59, 422-426.
- 33. Bouzakri, K., Zachrisson, A., Al-Khalili, L., Zhang, B.B., Koistinen, H.A., Krook, A., and Zierath, J.R. (2006). siRNA-based gene silencing reveals specialized roles of IRS-1/Akt2 and IRS-2/Akt1 in glucose and lipid metabolism in human skeletal muscle. Cell Metab 4, 89-96.
- 34. Bouzakri, K., and Zierath, J.R. (2007). MAP4K4 gene silencing in human skeletal muscle prevents tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced insulin resistance. J Biol Chem 282, 7783-7789.
- 35. Bright, N.J., Thornton, C., and Carling, D. (2009). The regulation and function of mammalian AMPK-related kinases. Acta Physiol (Oxf) 196, 15-26.
- 36. Brodbeck, D., Cron, P., and Hemmings, B.A. (1999). A human protein kinase Bgamma with regulatory phosphorylation sites in the activation loop and in the C-terminal hydrophobic domain. J Biol Chem 274, 9133-9136.
- 37. Brozinick, J.T., Jr., Roberts, B.R., and Dohm, G.L. (2003). Defective signaling through Akt-2 and -3 but not Akt-1 in insulin-resistant human skeletal muscle: potential role in insulin resistance. Diabetes 52, 935-941.
- 38. Bruning, J.C., Michael, M.D., Winnay, J.N., Hayashi, T., Horsch, D., Accili, D., Goodyear, L.J., and Kahn, C.R. (1998). A muscle-specific insulin receptor knockout exhibits features of the metabolic syndrome of NIDDM without altering glucose tolerance. Mol Cell 2, 559-569.
- Cai, D., Dhe-Paganon, S., Melendez, P.A., Lee, J., and Shoelson, S.E. (2003). Two new substrates in insulin signaling, IRS5/DOK4 and IRS6/DOK5. J Biol Chem 278, 25323-25330.
- 40. Cai, D., Yuan, M., Frantz, D.F., Melendez, P.A., Hansen, L., Lee, J., and Shoelson, S.E. (2005). Local and systemic insulin resistance resulting from hepatic activation of IKK-beta and NF-kappaB. Nat Med 11, 183-190.

- 41. Caplen, N.J., Parrish, S., Imani, F., Fire, A., and Morgan, R.A. (2001). Specific inhibition of gene expression by small double-stranded RNAs in invertebrate and vertebrate systems. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 9742-9747.
- 42. Chan, C.B., and Harper, M.E. (2006). Uncoupling proteins: role in insulin resistance and insulin insufficiency. Curr Diabetes Rev 2, 271-283.
- 43. Chen, G., and Goeddel, D.V. (2002). TNF-R1 signaling: a beautiful pathway. Science 296, 1634-1635.
- 44. Chen, M.B., McAinch, A.J., Macaulay, S.L., Castelli, L.A., O'Brien P, E., Dixon, J.B., Cameron-Smith, D., Kemp, B.E., and Steinberg, G.R. (2005). Impaired activation of AMP-kinase and fatty acid oxidation by globular adiponectin in cultured human skeletal muscle of obese type 2 diabetics. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90, 3665-3672.
- 45. Chibalin, A.V., Leng, Y., Vieira, E., Krook, A., Bjornholm, M., Long, Y.C., Kotova, O., Zhong, Z., Sakane, F., Steiler, T., Nylen, C., Wang, J., Laakso, M., Topham, M.K., Gilbert, M., Wallberg-Henriksson, H., and Zierath, J.R. (2008). Downregulation of diacylglycerol kinase delta contributes to hyperglycemia-induced insulin resistance. Cell 132, 375-386.
- 46. Cho, H., Mu, J., Kim, J.K., Thorvaldsen, J.L., Chu, Q., Crenshaw, E.B., 3rd, Kaestner, K.H., Bartolomei, M.S., Shulman, G.I., and Birnbaum, M.J. (2001a). Insulin resistance and a diabetes mellitus-like syndrome in mice lacking the protein kinase Akt2 (PKB beta). Science 292, 1728-1731.
- 47. Cho, H., Thorvaldsen, J.L., Chu, Q., Feng, F., and Birnbaum, M.J. (2001b). Akt1/PKBalpha is required for normal growth but dispensable for maintenance of glucose homeostasis in mice. J Biol Chem 276, 38349-38352.
- 48. Chou, M.M., Hou, W., Johnson, J., Graham, L.K., Lee, M.H., Chen, C.S., Newton, A.C., Schaffhausen, B.S., and Toker, A. (1998). Regulation of protein kinase C zeta by PI 3-kinase and PDK-1. Curr Biol 8, 1069-1077.

- 49. Cline GW., Petersen KF., Krssak M., Shen J., Hundal RS., Trajanoski Z., Inzucchi S., Dresner A., Rothman DL., Shulman GI. (1990), Impaired glucose transport as a cause of decreased insulin-stimulated muscle glycogen synthesis in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 341: 240-246.
- Covey, S.N., and Al-Kaff, N.S. (2000). Plant DNA viruses and gene silencing. Plant Mol Biol 43, 307-322.
- 51. Cowie, C.C., Rust, K.F., Ford, E.S., Eberhardt, M.S., Byrd-Holt, D.D., Li, C., Williams, D.E., Gregg, E.W., Bainbridge, K.E., Saydah, S.H., and Geiss, L.S. (2009). Full accounting of diabetes and pre-diabetes in the U.S. population in 1988-1994 and 2005-2006. Diabetes Care 32, 287-294.
- 52. Cozzone, D., Frojdo, S., Disse, E., Debard, C., Laville, M., Pirola, L., and Vidal, H. (2008). Isoform-specific defects of insulin stimulation of Akt/protein kinase B (PKB) in skeletal muscle cells from type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetologia 51, 512-521.
- 53. Cross, D.A., Alessi, D.R., Cohen, P., Andjelkovich, M., and Hemmings, B.A. (1995). Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. Nature 378, 785-789.
- Chen, C. and Okayama, H. (1987) 'High-efficiency transformation of mammalian cells by plasmid DNA.', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 7(8), pp. 2745–2752. doi: 10.1128/MCB.7.8.2745.
- 55. Coppack, S. W. (2001) 'Pro-inflammatory cytokines and adipose tissue', *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 60(03), pp. 349–356. doi: 10.1079/PNS2001110.
- 56. Crc, R. N. A. (1994) '[5, 6]', 47, pp. 39–47.
- 57. Diamond, J. (2003). The double puzzle of diabetes. Nature 423, 599-602.
- 58. Dohm, G.L., Tapscott, E.B., Pories, W.J., Dabbs, D.J., Flickinger, E.G., Meelheim, D., Fushiki, T., Atkinson, S.M., Elton, C.W., and Caro, J.F. (1988). An in vitro human muscle preparation suitable for metabolic studies. Decreased insulin stimulation of

glucose transport in muscle from morbidly obese and diabetic subjects. J Clin Invest 82, 486-494.

- 59. Dorsett, Y., and Tuschl, T. (2004). siRNAs: applications in functional genomics and potential as therapeutics. Nat Rev Drug Discov 3, 318-329.
- 60. Duncan, B. B. (2003) 'Low-grade systemic inflammation and the development of type
 2 diabetes: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study', *Diabetes*, 52, pp. 1799–1805. Available at:
- 61. <u>http://dx.doi.org/ HYPERLINK "http://dx.doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.52.7.1799"10.2337</u> <u>HYPERLINK "http://dx.doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.52.7.1799"/diabetes. HYPERLINK</u> <u>"http://dx.doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.52.7.1799"52.7.1799</u>.
- 62. Eriksson, J., Koranyi, L., Bourey, R., Schalin-Jantti, C., Widen, E., Mueckler, M., Permutt, A.M., and Groop, L.C. (1992). Insulin resistance in type 2 (non-insulindependent) diabetic patients and their relatives is not associated with a defect in the expression of the insulin-responsive glucose transporter (GLUT-4) gene in human skeletal muscle. Diabetologia 35, 143-147.
- 63. Esau, C., Davis, S., Murray, S.F., Yu, X.X., Pandey, S.K., Pear, M., Watts, L., Booten, S.L., Graham, M., McKay, R., Subramaniam, A., Propp, S., Lollo, B.A., Freier, S., Bennett, C.F., Bhanot, S., and Monia, B.P. (2006). miR-122 regulation of lipid metabolism revealed by in vivo antisense targeting. Cell Metab 3, 87-98.
- 64. Edgerton, D. S. *et al.* (2009) 'Effects of insulin on the metabolic control of hepatic gluconeogenesis in vivo', *Diabetes*, 58(12), pp. 2766–2775. doi: 10.2337/db09-0328.
- 65. Erhardt, A. *et al.* (2002) 'Hepatitis C virus core protein induces cell proliferation and activates ERK, JNK, and p38 MAP kinases together with the MAP kinase phosphatase MKP-1 in a HepG2 Tet-Off cell line', *Virology*, 292(2), pp. 272–284. doi: 10.1006/viro.2001.1227.

- 66. Esser, N. *et al.* (2014) 'Inflammation as a link between obesity, metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes', *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 105(2), pp. 141–150. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2014.04.006.
- 67. Fire, A., Xu, S., Montgomery, M.K., Kostas, S.A., Driver, S.E., and Mello, C.C. (1998). Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 391, 806-811.
- 68. Fischer, H., Gustafsson, T., Sundberg, C.J., Norrbom, J., Ekman, M., Johansson, O., and Jansson, E. (2006). Fatty acid binding protein 4 in human skeletal muscle. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 346, 125-130.
- 69. Fukuhara, A., Matsuda, M., Nishizawa, M., Segawa, K., Tanaka, M., Kishimoto, K., Matsuki, Y., Muraka, M., Funahashi, T.Yamanaka, S., Hiramatsu, R., Matsuzawa, Y., and Shimomura, I. (2005). Visfatin: a protein secreted by visceral fat that mimics the effects of insulin. Science 307, 426-430.
- 70. Funai, K., Schweitzer, G.G., Sharma, N., Kanzaki, M., and Cartee, G.D. (2009). Increased AS160 phosphorylation, but not TBC1D1 phosphorylation, with increased postexercise insulin sensitivity in rat skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 297, E242-251.
- 71. Galello F, Pautasso C, Reca S, Cañonero L, Portela P, Moreno S, et al. (2017) Transcriptional regulation of the protein kinase a subunits in Saccharomyces cerevisiae during fermentative growth. Yeast. 34, 495-508.
- Ghosh, S., and Karin, M. (2002). Missing pieces in the NF-kappaB puzzle. Cell 109 Suppl, S81-96.
- 73. Gao, X. *et al.* (2014) 'Dietary trimethylamine N-oxide exacerbates impaired glucose tolerance in mice fed a high fat diet', *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*. Elsevier Ltd, 118(4), pp. 476–481. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiosc.2014.03.001.

- 74. Glumer, C., Jorgensen, T., and Borch-Johnsen, K. (2003). Prevalences of diabetes and impaired glucose regulation in a Danish population: the Inter99 study. Diabetes Care 26, 2335-2340.
- 75. Glund, S., and Krook, A. (2008). Role of interleukin-6 signalling in glucose and lipid metabolism. Acta Physiol (Oxf) 192, 37-48.
- 76. Golestani R., Moazzrei S., Pourfatollah AA., Hamidpour L., Garvey WT., Maianu L., Hancock JA., Golichowski AM., Baron A., 2006, Gene expression of GLUT4 in skeletal muscle from insulin-resistant patient with obesity, IGT GDM, and NIDDM, Diabates, 41, 465-475.
- 77. Goodyear, L.J., Giorgino, F., Balon, T.W., Condorelli, G., and Smith, R.J. (1995a). Effects of contractile activity on tyrosine phosphoproteins and PI 3-kinase activity in rat skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol 268, E987-995.
- 78. Gual, P., Le Marchand-Brustel, Y., and Tanti, J.F. (2005). Positive and negative regulation of insulin signaling through IRS-1 phosphorylation. Biochimie 87, 99-109.
- 79. Haghani, K., Pashaei, S., Vakili, S., Taheripak G., Bakhtiyari, S. (2015) TNF-α knockdown alleviates palmitate-induced insulin resistance in C2C12 skeletal muscle cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 460, 977– 982.
- Hammond, S.M., Bernstein, E., Beach, D., and Hannon, G.J. (2000). An RNA-directed nuclease mediates post-transcriptional gene silencing in Drosophila cells. Nature 404, 293-296.
- Hardie, D.G. (2007). AMP-activated/SNF1 protein kinases: conserved guardians of cellular energy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8, 774-785.
- 82. Hotamisligil GS., Shargill NS., Spiegelman BM. (1993) Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science 259: 87-91.

- Hotamisligil, G. S., Budavari, A., *et al.* (1994) 'Reduced tyrosine kinase activity of the insulin receptor in obesity-diabetes. Central role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha.', *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 94(4), pp. 1543–1549. doi: 10.1172/JCI117495.
- 84. Huang, X., Wullschleger, S., Shpiro, N., McGuire, V.A., Sakamoto, K., Woods, Y.L., McBurnie, W., Fleming, S., and Alessi, D.R. (2008). Important role of the LKB1-AMPK pathway in suppressing tumorigenesis in PTEN-deficient mice. Biochem J 412, 211-221.
- 85. Hurley, R.L., Anderson, K.A., Franzone, J.M., Kemp, B.E., Means, A.R., and Witters, L.A. (2005). The Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinases are AMPactivated protein kinase kinases. J Biol Chem 280, 29060-29066.
- Hutvagner G., ZamorePD. 2002, RNAi nature abhors a double-starnd, C urr Opin Dev, 12(2), 225-32.
- 87. Ichinoseki -Sekine, N., Naito, H., Tsuchihara, K., Kobayashi, I., Ogura, Y., Kakigi, R., Kurosaka, M., Fujioka, R., and Esumi, H. (2009). Provision of a voluntary exercise environment enhances running activity and prevents obesity in Snark-deficient mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 296, E1013-1021.
- 88. Ide T., Shimano H., Yahagi N., Matsuzaka T., Nakakuki M., Yamamoto T., Nakagawa Y., Takahashi A., Suzuki H., Sone H., Toyoshima H., Fukamizu A., Yamada N.(2004), SREBPs suppress IRS-2-mediated insulin signalling in the liver. Nat Cell Biol 6: 351-357.
- 89. International Diabetes Federation (2006). Diabetes Atlas 3rd Edition, <u>http://www.eatlas.idf.org/</u>.
- James, D.E., Strube, M., and Mueckler, M. (1989). Molecular cloning and characterization of an insulin-regulatable glucose transporter. Nature 338, 83-87.

- 91. Jansson, S.P., Andersson, D.K., and Svardsudd, K. (2007). Prevalence and incidence rate of diabetes mellitus in a Swedish community during 30 years of follow-up. Diabetologia 50, 703-710.
- 92. Jeyaseelan, K., Herath, W.B., and Armugam, A. (2007). MicroRNAs as therapeutic targets in human diseases. Expert Opin Ther Targets 11, 1119-1129.
- 93. Jones, P.F., Jakubowicz, T., Pitossi, F.J., Maurer, F., and Hemmings, B.A. (1991). Molecular cloning and identification of a serine/threonine protein kinase of the second-messenger subfamily. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88, 4171-4175.
- 94. Kahn, B.B., Alquier, T., Carling, D., and Hardie, D.G. (2005). AMP-activated protein kinase: ancient energy gauge provides clues to modern understanding of metabolism. Cell Metab 1, 15-25.
- 95. Karlsson, H.K., Ahlsen, M., Zierath, J.R., Wallberg-Henriksson, H., and Koistinen, H.A. (2006). Insulin signaling and glucose transport in skeletal muscle from first-degree relatives of type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes 55, 1283-1288.
- 96. Karlsson, H.K., Chibalin, A.V., Koistinen, H.A., Yang, J., Koumanov, F., Wallberg-Henriksson, H., Zierath, J.R., and Holman, G.D. (2009). Kinetics of GLUT4 trafficking in rat and human skeletal muscle. Diabetes 58, 847-854.
- 97. Kim, S., Domon-Dell, C., Kang, J., Chung, D.H., Freund, J.N., and Evers, B.M. (2004). Down-regulation of the tumor suppressor PTEN by the tumor necrosis factoralpha/nuclear factor-kappaB (NF-kappaB)-inducing kinase/NF-kappaB pathway is linked to a default IkappaB-alpha autoregulatory loop. J Biol Chem 279, 4285-4291.
- 98. Kim, Y.B., Nikoulina, S.E., Ciaraldi, T.P., Henry, R.R., and Kahn, B.B. (1999). Normal insulin-dependent activation of Akt/protein kinase B, with diminished activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase, in muscle in type 2 diabetes. J Clin Invest 104, 733-741.
- King, H., Aubert, R.E., and Herman, W.H. (1998). Global burden of diabetes, 1995-2025: prevalence, numerical estimates, and projections. Diabetes Care 21, 1414-1431.

- Kopf, A., Tchobroutsky, G., and Eschwege, E. (1973). Serial postprandial blood glucose levels in 309 subjects with and without diabetes. Diabetes 22, 834-846.
- Koves, T.R., Ussher, J.R., Noland, R.C., Slentz, D., Mosedale, M., Ilkayeva, O., Bain, J., Stevens, R., Dyck, J.R., Newgard, C.B., Lopaschuk, G.D., and Muoio, D.M. (2008). Mitochondrial overload and incomplete fatty acid oxidation contribute to skeletal muscle insulin resistance. Cell Metab 7, 45-56.
- 102. Krook, A., Bjornholm, M., Galuska, D., Jiang, X.J., Fahlman, R., Myers, M.G., Jr., Wallberg-Henriksson, H., and Zierath, J.R. (2000). Characterization of signal transduction and glucose transport in skeletal muscle from type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes 49, 284-292.
- 103. Krssak M., Falk PK., Dresner A., DiPietro L., Vogel SM., Rothman DL., Roden M., Shulman GI.(1999). Intramyocellular lipid concentrations are correlated with insulin sensitivity in humans: a 1H NMR spectroscopy study. Diabetologia 42: 113-116.
- 104. Lazar, D.F., Wiese, R.J., Brady, M.J., Mastick, C.C., Waters, S.B., Yamauchi, K., Pessin, J.E., Cuatrecasas, P., and Saltiel, A.R. (1995). Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase inhibition does not block the stimulation of glucose utilization by insulin. J Biol Chem 270, 20801-20807.
- 105. Legato, M.J., Gelzer, A., Goland, R., Ebner, S.A., Rajan, S., Villagra, V., and Kosowski, M. (2006). Gender-specific care of the patient with diabetes: review and recommendations. Gend Med 3, 131-158.
- 106. Malherbe, C., De Gasparo, M., De Hertogh, R., and Hoet, J.J. (1969). Circadian variations of blood sugar and plasma insulin levels in man. Diabetologia 5, 397-404.

- 107. Manning, B.D., and Cantley, L.C. (2003). United at last: the tuberous sclerosis complex gene products connect the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt pathway to mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signalling. Biochem Soc Trans 31, 573-578.
- 108. Martin, B.C., Warram, J.H., Krolewski, A.S., Bergman, R.N., Soeldner, J.S., and Kahn, C.R. (1992). Role of glucose and insulin resistance in development of type 2 diabetes mellitus: results of a 25-year follow-up study. Lancet 340, 925-929.
- Mauro, A. (1961). Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J Biophys Biochem Cytol 9, 493-495.
- 110. Meier, R., Thelen, M., and Hemmings, B.A. (1998). Inactivation and dephosphorylation of protein kinase Balpha (PKBalpha) promoted by hyperosmotic stress. EMBO J 17, 7294-7303.
- 111. Michael, M.D., Kulkarni, R.N., Postic, C., Previs, S.F., Shulman, G.I., Magnuson, M.A., and Kahn, C.R. (2000). Loss of insulin signaling in hepatocytes leads to severe insulin resistance and progressive hepatic dysfunction. Mol Cell 6, 87-97.
- 112. Morino K., Petersen KF., Shulman GI.(2006) Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in humans and their potential links with mitochondrial dysfunction. Diabetes 55 Suppl 2: S9-S15.
- 113. Munzberg, H., and Myers, M.G., Jr. (2005). Molecular and anatomical determinants of central leptin resistance. Nat Neurosci 8, 566-570.
- Muoio, D.M., Dohm, G.L., Fiedorek, F.T., Jr., Tapscott, E.B., and Coleman,
 R.A. (1997). Leptin directly alters lipid partitioning in skeletal muscle. Diabetes 46, 1360-1363.
- 115. Muthusamy, T., Murugesan, P., and Balasubramanian, K. (2009). Sex steroids deficiency impairs glucose transporter 4 expression and its translocation through defective Akt phosphorylation in target tissues of adult male rat. Metabolism.

- 116. Nikoulina, S.E., Ciaraldi, T.P., Carter, L., Mudaliar, S., Park, K.S., and Henry, R.R. (2001). Impaired muscle glycogen synthase in type 2 diabetes is associated with diminished phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86, 4307-4314.
- 117. Obici, S., Feng, Z., Karkanias, G., Baskin, D.G., and Rossetti, L. (2002). Decreasing hypothalamic insulin receptors causes hyperphagia and insulin resistance in rats. Nat Neurosci 5, 566-572.
- Peng, X.D., Xu, P.Z., Chen, M.L., Hahn-Windgassen, A., Skeen, J., Jacobs, J., Sundararajan, D., Chen, W.S., Crawford, S.E., Coleman, K.G., and Hay, N. (2003). Dwarfism, impaired skin development, skeletal muscle atrophy, delayed bone development, and impeded adipogenesis in mice lacking Akt1 and Akt2. Genes Dev 17, 1352-1365.
- 119. Petersen KF., Befroy D., Dufour S., Dziura J., Ariyan C., Rothman DL., DiPietro L., Cline GW., Shulman GI. (2003)Mitochondrial dysfunction in the elderly: possible role in insulin resistance. Science 300: 1140-1142.
- Pickersgill, L., Litherland, G.J., Greenberg, A.S., Walker, M., and Yeaman, S.J. (2007). Key role for ceramides in mediating insulin resistance in human muscle cells. J Biol Chem 282, 12583-12589.
- 121. Plomgaard, P., Bouzakri, K., Krogh-Madsen, R., Mittendorfer, B., Zierath, J.R., and Pedersen, B.K. (2005). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces skeletal muscle insulin resistance in healthy human subjects via inhibition of Akt substrate 160 phosphorylation. Diabetes 54, 2939-2945.
- 122. Poulsen, P., Kyvik, K.O., Vaag, A., and Beck-Nielsen, H. (1999). Heritability of type II (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus and abnormal glucose tolerance--a population-based twin study. Diabetologia 42, 139-145.
- 123. Powelka, A.M., Seth, A., Virbasius, J.V., Kiskinis, E., Nicoloro, S.M., Guilherme, A., Tang, X., Straubhaar, J., Cherniack, A.D., Parker, M.G., and Czech,

M.P. (2006). Suppression of oxidative metabolism and mitochondrial biogenesis by the transcriptional corepressor RIP140 in mouse adipocytes. J Clin Invest 116, 125-136.

- Prokop A., Davidson JM., Robert L., Joseph V. 200, Gene delivery into cells and tissues. Principles of Tissue Engineering, Burlington: Academic Press, P. 493-515.
- 125. Puri, V., Chakladar, A., Virbasius, J.V., Konda, S., Powelka, A.M., Chouinard, M., Hagan, G.N., Perugini, R., and Czech, M.P. (2007). RNAi-based gene silencing in primary mouse and human adipose tissues. J Lipid Res 48, 465-471.
- 126. Richter, E.A., and Ruderman, N.B. (2009). AMPK and the biochemistry of exercise: implications for human health and disease. Biochem J 418, 261-275.
- 127. Ringborg, A., Lindgren, P., Martinell, M., Yin, D.D., Schon, S., and Stalhammar, J. (2008). Prevalence and incidence of Type 2 diabetes and its complications 1996-2003-- estimates from a Swedish population-based study. Diabet Med 25, 1178-1186.
- 128. Roach, W.G., Chavez, J.A., Miinea, C.P., and Lienhard, G.E. (2007). Substrate specificity and effect on GLUT4 translocation of the Rab GTPaseactivating protein Tbc1d1. Biochem J 403, 353-358.
- 129. Roden, M., Price, T.B., Perseghin, G., Petersen, K.F., Rothman, D.L., Cline, G.W., and Shulman, G.I. (1996). Mechanism of free fatty acid-induced insulin resistance in humans. J Clin Invest 97, 2859-2865.
- 130. Rothman DL., Shulman RG., Shulman GI. (1992), 31P nuclear magnetic resonance measurements of muscle glucose-6-phosphate. Evidence for reduced insulin-dependent muscle glucose transport or phosphorylation activity in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest 89: 1069-1075.

- 131. Rune, A., Salehzadeh, F., Szekeres, F., Kuhn, I., Osler, M.E., and Al-Khalili, L. (2009). Evidence against a sexual dimorphism in glucose and fatty acid metabolism in skeletal muscle cultures from age-matched men and post-menopausal women. Acta Physiol (Oxf).
- 132. Samuel VT., Liu ZX., Qu X., Elder BD., Bilz S., Befroy D., Romanelli AJ., Shulman GI.(2004) Mechanism of hepatic insulin resistance in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Biol Chem 279: 32345-32353.
- 133. Sano, H., Kane, S., Sano, E., Miinea, C.P., Asara, J.M., Lane, W.S., Garner, C.W., and Lienhard, G.E. (2003). Insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of a Rab GTPase-activating protein regulates GLUT4 translocation. J Biol Chem 278, 14599-14602.
- 134. Sarabia, V., Lam, L., Burdett, E., Leiter, L.A., and Klip, A. (1992). Glucose transport in human skeletal muscle cells in culture. Stimulation by insulin and metformin. J Clin Invest 90, 1386-1395.
- 135. Sarbassov, D.D., Guertin, D.A., Ali, S.M., and Sabatini, D.M. (2005). Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. Science 307, 1098-1101.
- 136. Sato GH., Barnes DW., Robert PL., Robert L., Joseph V. 2000, Animal cell culture. Principles of Tissue Engineering, San Diego, Academic Press, P. 111-118.
- 137. Schulz, L.O., Bennett, P.H., Ravussin, E., Kidd, J.R., Kidd, K.K., Esparza, J., and Valencia, M.E. (2006). Effects of traditional and western environments on prevalence of type 2 diabetes in Pima Indians in Mexico and the U.S. Diabetes Care 29, 1866-1871.
- 138. Sciacchitano, S., and Taylor, S.I. (1997). Cloning, tissue expression, and chromosomal localization of the mouse IRS-3 gene. Endocrinology 138, 4931-4940.
- 139. Shao J., Qiao L., Janssen RC., Pagliassotti M., Friedman JE.(2005) Chronic hyperglycemia enhances PEPCK gene expression and hepatocellular glucose

production via elevated liver activating protein/liver inhibitory protein ratio. Diabetes 54: 976-984.

- 140. Shashkova S, Wollman AJM, Leake MC, Hohmann S. (2017) The yeast Mig1 transcriptional repressor is dephosphorylated by glucose-dependent and independent mechanisms. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 364(14):fnx133.
- 141. Shimabukuro M., Zhou YT., Levi M., Unger RH. (1998)Fatty acid-induced beta cell apoptosis: a link between obesity and diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 2498-2502.
- 142. Soeters, M.R., Sauerwein, H.P., Groener, J.E., Aerts, J.M., Ackermans, M.T., Glatz, J.F., Fliers, E., and Serlie, M.J. (2007). Gender-related differences in the metabolic response to fasting. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92, 3646-3652.
- 143. Steppan, C.M., Bailey, S.T., Bhat, S., Brown, E.J., Banerjee, R.R., Wright, C.M., Patel, H.R., Ahima, R.S., and Lazar, M.A. (2001). The hormone resistin links obesity to diabetes. Nature 409, 307-312.
- 144. Sun, Q., Li, L., Li, R., Yang, M., Liu, H., Nowicki, M.J., Zong, H., Xu, J., and Yang, G. (2009). Overexpression of visfatin/PBEF/Nampt alters whole-body insulin sensitivity and lipid profile in rats. Ann Med 41, 311-320.
- Suter, M., Riek, U., Tuerk, R., Schlattner, U., Wallimann, T., and Neumann,
 D. (2006). Dissecting the role of 5'-AMP for allosteric stimulation, activation, and
 deactivation of AMP-activated protein kinase. J Biol Chem 281, 32207-32216.
- Suzuki, y., Miyoshi, N. And Isemuram M. (2012) Health-promoting effects of green tea., proceedings of japan Academy. Series B, Physical and biological sciences, 88(3), pp. 88-101
- Tabara, H., Sarkissian, M., Kelly, W.G., Fleenor, J., Grishok, A., Timmons, L., Fire, A., and Mello, C.C. (1999). The rde-1 gene, RNA interference, and transposon silencing in C. elegans. Cell 99, 123-132.

- 148. Tamemoto, H., Kadowaki, T., Tobe, K., Yagi, T., Sakura, H., Hayakawa, T., Terauchi, Y., Ueki, K., Kaburagi, Y., Satoh, S., and et al. (1994). Insulin resistance and growth retardation in mice lacking insulin receptor substrate-1. Nature 372, 182-186.
- 149. Taniguchi, C.M., Emanuelli, B., and Kahn, C.R. (2006). Critical nodes in signalling pathways: insights into insulin action. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 7, 85-96.
- Taniguchi, C.M., Ueki, K., and Kahn, R. (2005). Complementary roles of IRS-1 and IRS-2 in the hepatic regulation of metabolism. J Clin Invest 115, 718-727.
- 151. Tatebe, J. and Morita, T. (2011) 'Enhancement of TNF-α expression and inhibition of glucose uptake by nicotine in the presence of a free fatty acid in C2C12 skeletal myocytes', *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, 43(1), pp. 11–16. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1267996.
- Tomas E., Lin YS., Dagher Z., Saha A., Luo Z., Ido Y., Ruderman NB. (2005)
 Hyperglycemia and insulin resistance: possible mechanisms. Ann N Y Acad Sci 967: 43-51.
- 153. Tschopp, O., Yang, Z.Z., Brodbeck, D., Dummler, B.A., Hemmings-Mieszczak, M., Watanabe, T., Michaelis, T., Frahm, J., and Hemmings, B.A. (2005). Essential role of protein kinase B gamma (PKB gamma/Akt3) in postnatal brain development but not in glucose homeostasis. Development 132, 2943-2954.
- 154. Tsuchihara, K., Ogura, T., Fujioka, R., Fujii, S., Kuga, W., Saito, M., Ochiya, T., Ochiai, A., and Esumi, H. (2008). Susceptibility of Snark-deficient mice to azoxymethane-induced colorectal tumorigenesis and the formation of aberrant crypt foci. Cancer Sci 99, 677-682.
- 155. Vaag, A., Henriksen, J.E., and Beck-Nielsen, H. (1992). Decreased insulin activation of glycogen synthase in skeletal muscles in young nonobese Caucasian first -degree relatives of patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest 89, 782-788.

- 156. Wang, S. L. *et al.* (2009) 'Curcumin, a potential inhibitor of Up-regulation of TNF-alpha and IL-6 induced by palmitate in 3T3-L1 adipocytes through NF-kappaB and JNK pathway', *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences*, 22(1), pp. 32–39. doi: 10.1016/S0895-3988(09)60019-2.
- 157. Wang, S., Zhao, Y., Xia N., et al. (2015) KPNβ1 promotes palmitate-induced insulin resistance via NF-κB signaling in hepatocytes," Journal of Physiology and Biochemistry, 71, 763–772.
- 158. Wazen, R. M. *et al.* (2014) 'NIH Public Access', 8(9), pp. 1385–1395. doi: 10.2217/nnm.12.167.Gene.
- 159. Wei, Z. *et al.* (2012) 'C1q/TNF-related protein-12 (CTRP12), a novel adipokine that improves insulin sensitivity and glycemic control in mouse models of obesity and diabetes', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(13), pp. 10301–10315. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.303651.
- Wiesbrock, S. M. (1998) 'Functional Analysis of Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)
 Receptors in TNF- ____- -Mediated Insulin Resistance in Genetic Obesity*', 139(12), pp. 4832–4838.
- 161. Welle, S., Tawil, R., and Thornton, C.A. (2008). Sex-related differences in gene expression in human skeletal muscle. PLoS One 3, e1385.
- 162. White, M.F. (2003). Insulin signaling in health and disease. Science 302, 1710-1711.
- 163. Wild, S., Roglic, G., Green, A., Sicree, R., and King, H. (2004). Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. Diabetes Care 27, 1047-1053.
- Withers, D.J., Gutierrez, J.S., Towery, H., Burks, D.J., Ren, J.M., Previs, S., Zhang, Y., Bernal, D., Pons, S., Shulman, G.I., Bonner-Weir, S., and White, M.F. (1998). Disruption of IRS-2 causes type 2 diabetes in mice. Nature 391, 900-904.

- 165. Xu JR, Zhao XQ, Liu CG, Bai FW. (2018). Improving xylose utilization of Saccharomyces cerevisiae by expressing the MIG1 mutant from the self-flocculating yeast SPSC01. Protein Pept Lett. 25:202-207.
- 166. Yamauchi, T., Tobe, K., Tamemoto, H., Ueki, K., Kaburagi, Y., Yamamoto-Honda, R., Takahashi, Y., Yoshizawa, F., Aizawa, S., Akanuma, Y., Sonenberg, N., Yazaki, Y., and Kadowaki, T. (1996). Insulin signalling and insulin actions in the muscles and livers of insulin-resistant, insulin receptor substrate 1-deficient mice. Mol Cell Biol 16, 3074-3084.
- 167. Yang, Q., Graham, T.E., Mody, N., Preitner, F., Peroni, O.D., Zabolotny, J.M., Kotani, K., Quadro, L., and Kahn, B.B. (2005). Serum retinol binding protein 4 contributes to insulin resistance in obesity and type 2 diabetes. Nature 436, 356-362.
- 168. Yang, Z.Z., Tschopp, O., Hemmings-Mieszczak, M., Feng, J., Brodbeck, D., Perentes, E., and Hemmings, B.A. (2003). Protein kinase B alpha/Akt1 regulates placental development and fetal growth. J Biol Chem 278, 32124-32131.
- 169. Yu, C., Chen, Y., Cline, G.W., Zhang, D., Zong, H., Wang, Y., Bergeron, R., Kim, J.K., Cushman, S.W., Cooney, G.J., Atcheson, B., White, M.F., Kraegen, E.W., and Shulman, G.I. (2002). Mechanism by which fatty acids inhibit insulin activation of insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1)-associated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity in muscle. J Biol Chem 277, 50230-50236.
- 170. Yuan, M., Konstantopoulos, N., Lee, J., Hansen, L., Li, Z.W., Karin, M., and Shoelson, S.E. (2001). Reversal of obesity- and diet-induced insulin resistance with salicylates or targeted disruption of Ikkbeta. Science 293, 1673-1677.
- 171. Zammit, P.S., Partridge, T.A., and Yablonka-Reuveni, Z. (2006). The skeletal muscle satellite cell: the stem cell that came in from the cold. J Histochem Cytochem 54, 1177-1191.

- 172. Zhang, J., Gao, Z., Yin, J., Quon, M.J., and Ye, J. (2008). S6K directly phosphorylates IRS-1 on Ser-270 to promote insulin resistance in response to TNF- (alpha) signaling through IKK2. J Biol Chem 283, 35375-35382.
- 173. Zhang, W., Tang, Z., Zhu X., et al. (2015) TRAF1 knockdown alleviates palmitate-induced insulin resistance in HepG2 cells through NF-κB pathway," Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 467, 527–533.
- 174. Zhou, L., Chen, H., Lin, C.H., Cong, L.N., McGibbon, M.A., Sciacchitano, S., Lesniak, M.A., Quon, M.J., and Taylor, S.I. (1997). Insulin receptor substrate-2 (IRS-2) can mediate the action of insulin to stimulate translocation of GLUT4 to the cell surface in rat adipose cells. J Biol Chem 272, 29829-29833.
- 175. Zimmet, P., Alberti, K.G., and Shaw, J. (2001). Global and societal implications of the diabetes epidemic. Nature 414, 782-787.